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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, to this joint hearing of the Committees on

          4  Public Safety, Fire and Criminal Justice, and

          5  Technology In Government. I believe this may be the

          6  first time we've had a committee hearing with these

          7  three committee hearings together, that's because we

          8  have a very important topic today. We're following

          9  up on something we promised to follow up on for a

         10  long time, and that's the improvements in

         11  interagency communication, among many other topics

         12  we're going to hit today.

         13                 I'd like to introduce the Council

         14  members who have joined us today. We have Council

         15  Member Melinda Katz, Mr. Gentile, and Minority

         16  Leader Oddo, and others will be joining us.

         17                 I'm very pleased to be co-chairing

         18  this Committee with Chairperson Brewer and

         19  Chairperson Martinez, who have worked very hard on

         20  this hearing and on this topic for a long time now.

         21  So, I'd like to go over to Council Member Gale

         22  Brewer for an opening statement.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much. It's a pleasure to co-chair this meeting with

         25  Council Members Vallone and Martinez. And my opening
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          2  statement is simply going to be the Powerpoint. I

          3  think you know that in our Technology Committee we

          4  always do a Powerpoint.

          5                 Anyway, this is obviously about

          6  improvements in communication, technology among

          7  first responders, an incredibly important topic.

          8                 I want to thank Colleen Pagter, for

          9  helping us put the hearing together and for running

         10  the Powerpoint today.

         11                 In terms of interoperability, the

         12  ability of public safety personnel to communicate

         13  with staff from other agencies on demand and in real

         14  time. That's our goal.

         15                 Too much communication on a

         16  particular radio frequency band can cause

         17  interference or crowd out other communications. I

         18  think you know that.

         19                 Old technology and the fragmentation

         20  of the public safety communication spectrum causes a

         21  lack of interoperability between police, fire and

         22  other emergency responders, certainly people working

         23  in the hospital.

         24                 In terms of the mobile wireless

         25  network, something that this Committee has worked on
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          2  for the last four years, actually, a wireless

          3  network used as radio waves as a carrier of

          4  information between computers and other devices, be

          5  it antennas instead of cables, and today we will be

          6  talking about the opportunity to use wireless

          7  between the field and the home station. Video, voice

          8  and other data can all be sent via mobile wireless

          9  connections, and can be used to facilitate

         10  interoperability between agencies.

         11                 In terms of the Citywide mobile

         12  wireless network, which has been pioneered and

         13  piloted downtown and will go Citywide, five-year

         14  $500 million contract was awarded to Northrop

         15  Grumman after I think much discussion and much

         16  piloting. It's a secure radio access network, ten

         17  megahertz of bandwith at the 2.5 range -- gigahertz,

         18  I should know that. Ten millibites per second rate,

         19  but within ten years that will go up to 100. And

         20  third generation and fourth generation cellular

         21  technology, 400 radio sites across the City, 95

         22  percent street indoor coverage, although in the

         23  downtown area, Northrop has received 100 percent.

         24  Lower Manhattan network active in January 2007, and

         25  the rest of New York City by spring of 2008.
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          2                 The uses of this wireless network

          3  include streamlined communications, Police

          4  Department ability to access real-time photo,

          5  warrant and license plate databases and I'm sure

          6  we'll hear more about that today.

          7                 First responders can transmit and

          8  receive real time video, access to operating

          9  procedures, maps and geographic conditions,

         10  coordinated control at traffic lights. We just don't

         11  want to see them all day long on NYC TV, but that's

         12  okay. Wireless emergency call boxes, emergency

         13  management services can transmit patient information

         14  directly to the hospital while en route. That's

         15  incredibly important.

         16                 So, that's my opening statement, and

         17  I want to thank my co-chairs, and certainly I look

         18  forward to the hearing today.

         19                 I also thank the DoITT and the

         20  Northrop for giving us a tour of the model

         21  applications, and we look forward to hearing about

         22  them today.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Chair

         25  Brewer. I don't have a Powerpoint. I feel like the
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          2  kid at the science fair with the exploding volcano.

          3                 So, I'll go straight over to Council

          4  Member Martinez then to follow the Powerpoint.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          6  Chair Vallone and Chair Brewer.

          7                 I'm looking forward to the

          8  opportunity to discuss the improvements being made

          9  in the communication technology among first

         10  responders.

         11                 I think it is important that we

         12  discuss these issues with all of our first

         13  responders as the City embarks in a $500 million

         14  effort to enhance communication for our first

         15  responders.

         16                 While the heroic efforts of our first

         17  responders to he 9/11 terrorist attack have been

         18  well documented, 9/11 also revealed that there were

         19  problems with the communication within and among our

         20  first responders.

         21                 In April of this year, the Fire and

         22  Criminal Justice Services Committee had an

         23  opportunity to discuss some of the ways the Fire

         24  Department had been addressing those problems. I'm

         25  sure they will be detailed today.
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          2                 The Fire Department made enhancement

          3  to its operation centers and undertaken a two-phase

          4  plan to address and identify communication issues.

          5  The first phase which has been completed consisted

          6  of purchasing handy walkie-talkie radios, higher

          7  wattage post radios, vehicle-based repeaters.

          8                 The second phase, which is to address

          9  communication infrastructure issues is underway and

         10  includes the selection of a consulting firm that

         11  specializes in emergency communication system to

         12  make recommendation for the design and development

         13  of communication infrastructure, which may involve

         14  the installation of in-building radar repeaters.

         15                 Towards that end, I recently

         16  introduced legislation which will mandate that

         17  in-building repeaters, radio, be installed in

         18  high-rise buildings to improve radio communication

         19  for our first responders.

         20                 If enacted, this legislation will

         21  give the Fire Department the authority to dictate

         22  the specification of the repeater system, and

         23  mandate a time frame in which these systems must be

         24  installed.

         25                 I look forward to getting an update
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          2  from the Fire Department and all our first

          3  responders as to how they are enhancing their

          4  communication capacity.

          5                 I am also looking forward to getting

          6  details about the scope of the communication network

          7  that is being developed, and how our first responder

          8  intend to deploy this technology.

          9                 Again, thank you, Chair Brewer and

         10  Chair Vallone, for putting together this hearing,

         11  along with the Fire and Criminal Justice Committee.

         12  I think it is very important for us to have a

         13  detailed discussion among our first responder, in

         14  terms of the technology being developed, in ensuring

         15  that we're actually addressing the needs that were

         16  identified after the 9/11 terrorist attack as it

         17  relates to our terrorism infrastructure system.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Chair

         19  Martinez.

         20                 We've also been joined by Council

         21  Members Yassky and James from Brooklyn. Thank you.

         22                 It's been four years now since Police

         23  Commissioner Kelly, Fire Commissioner Scoppetta and

         24  OEM, then OEM Commissioner Odermat, sat there and

         25  testified about interagency response and
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          2  preparedness to large scale disasters, and that

          3  hearing was October 8th in 2002.

          4                 Now we'd like to know what progress

          5  has been made since then in improving these

          6  communications.

          7                 Obviously, everyone knows the

          8  McKinsey Report found our City responded heroically

          9  after 9/11, but obviously there was room for

         10  improvement, as there always is. We would like to

         11  see whether those improvements have been

         12  implemented.

         13                 I'll skipped past the parts of what

         14  the hearing was about. I do want to thank the

         15  agencies involved for the tour I went on not too

         16  long ago of this new network operation center, that

         17  myself and many of the staff members went on. And

         18  truly remarkable technology. And I look forward to

         19  everyone in this room getting to see a presentation

         20  about what it's about. Truly James Bond-type

         21  technology. And the interesting thing today is we'd

         22  like to hear now how each agency is going to

         23  implement that technology and their responsiveness

         24  to the disasters.

         25                 So, with that, I'd like to welcome
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          2  all of you up there at this very large table to the

          3  hearing. We've also been joined by Council Member

          4  Gerson, thank you, and Garodnick. Didn't see you,

          5  sorry.

          6                 Okay, I don't know off the top of my

          7  head who is going to be speaking first, so let me

          8  let you introduce yourself, and whoever needs to

          9  make an opening statement can.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         11  Good morning, Chairpersons Brewer, Martinez and

         12  Vallone, and members of the City Council Committees

         13  on Technology in Government, Fire and Criminal

         14  Justice Services and Public Safety. My name is Ron

         15  Bergmann, and I am First Deputy Commissioner of the

         16  Department of Information Technology and

         17  Telecommunications or DoITT.

         18                 We are pleased to be here to discuss

         19  the City's improvements and communications

         20  technology of first responders.

         21                 With me today representing the Fire

         22  Department are Assistant Chief of Operations Bob

         23  Sweeney, and Assistant Commissioner for Technology

         24  Development and Systems, Don Stanton. Joining me

         25  from the Police Department are Inspector Charles
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          2  Dowd, and Inspector Jay Kopstein. And joining me

          3  from DoITT is Deputy Commissioner Mitchel Ahlbaum.

          4                 The Fire and Police Departments will

          5  begin this morning by speaking specifically about

          6  the technology improvements in radio communications,

          7  both within and between their agencies.

          8                 I will then speak about DoITT's role

          9  in Citywide technology initiatives, focusing on the

         10  implementation, as you noted, of the Citywide Mobile

         11  Wireless Network.

         12                 After that, we would be pleased to

         13  address any questions you have.

         14                 We are also joined today by Deputy

         15  Commissioner Henry Jackson of the Office of

         16  Emergency Management, who will also be available to

         17  answer questions.

         18                 I would now like to ask Assistant

         19  Chief Sweeney from the FDNY to begin. Thank you.

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Good

         21  morning, Committee Chairs and Council Members. My

         22  name is Robert Sweeney, I am Assistant Chief of

         23  Operations of the New York City Fire Department.

         24  With me, to my right, is Don Stanton, FDNY Assistant

         25  Commissioner of Technology, Development and Systems.
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          2                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          3  speak with you about FDNY first responder

          4  communications.

          5                 As you may know, the FDNY embraced

          6  the McKinsey Report recommendations to increase our

          7  communications capabilities.

          8                 The FDNY has improved and continues

          9  to improve our communications technology focusing on

         10  interoperability among all FDNY personnel and beyond

         11  that to other governmental agencies.

         12                 In the five years since 9/11, the

         13  City Council and members of the public have

         14  repeatedly asked us whether the FDNY is truly

         15  interoperable? Can we communicate with the NYPD on

         16  our radios? Can our EMS personnel communicate

         17  electronically with our FDNY fire personnel? Can EMS

         18  communicate electronically with the Police

         19  Department?

         20                 I'm happy to report to you that in

         21  each case, yes, we can. As I will discuss further in

         22  a moment, we also can communicate electronically

         23  with the Office of Emergency Management, the FBI,

         24  and other federal agencies.

         25                 We learned from 9/11 how important
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          2  our communications resources are. We have made great

          3  strides since then on several communications fronts,

          4  which I will now discuss.

          5                 Radios. As we have testified

          6  previously, the Department has successfully deployed

          7  a three-part field communication system that

          8  represents a critical step in improved fireground

          9  communications. The system consists of vehicle-based

         10  cross-band repeaters, which allow radio signals to

         11  be transmitted into dense building environments;

         12  high-powered portable command post radios; and

         13  improved handie-talkie radios with several

         14  customized features that have improved on-scene

         15  tactical and command communications and firefighter

         16  safety. The Department has deployed 75 post radios

         17  throughout the City, and installed 13 battalion car

         18  repeaters. Field personnel have expressed

         19  satisfaction with the new radio system.

         20                 In the Fiscal 2006 budget, FDNY

         21  allocated approximately 7.5 million for radio

         22  transmission recorders for all Battalion vehicles.

         23  This equipment proved invaluable at the tragic Bronx

         24  fire in January 2005.

         25                 Radio transmissions recorded during
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          2  the incident enabled investigators to reconstruct

          3  and understand the events of that day and formulate

          4  recommendations for improving the safety of future

          5  operations.

          6                 The Department has also made

          7  important strides in strengthening EMS

          8  communications by adding a second Citywide radio

          9  channel. This additional EMS channel eliminates the

         10  overlapping frequencies between our command and

         11  citywide channels. It enhances the capability of EMS

         12  command at the scene of multiple incidents and

         13  allows for better utilization of frequency

         14  allocations for EMS Chiefs.

         15                 Fire Department Operations Center.

         16                 This past summer, the FDNY put into

         17  operation its state-of-the-art Fire Department

         18  Operations Center at our Metrotech headquarters. The

         19  $17 million FDOC, the acronym for the Operations

         20  Center, greatly enhances our ability to monitor and

         21  manage large scale incidents and provide our

         22  commanders with the resources necessary to

         23  facilitate better situation of awareness.

         24                 FDNY Fire or EMS Operations Personnel

         25  worked out of the FDOC during the major gas
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          2  explosion that leveled the East 62nd Street Town

          3  House in July, and the Upper East Side plane crash

          4  involving Cory Lidle in October.

          5                 During these incidents, FDOC

          6  personnel retrieved archived photographs of each

          7  building within seconds, assisting incident

          8  commanders with descriptions of the structures and

          9  their use.

         10                 FDNY personnel were able to quickly

         11  ascertain which subway and bus lines ran near those

         12  sites and determine if any needed to be suspended.

         13  Since the FDOC has the technological infrastructure

         14  to receive live video feeds from news and NYPD

         15  helicopters, FDOC personnel monitored these feeds

         16  for potential hazards at or near the scene.

         17                 We invite all of you to tour this

         18  innovative new facility.

         19                 Electronic Command Boards.

         20                 As you may know, on 9/11 our on-scene

         21  Chiefs had no source of external information about

         22  their personnel once their magnetic command boards,

         23  used to track assigned units, were destroyed in the

         24  collapse. At that point, all records of on-scene

         25  personnel were lost.
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          2                 After several years of research and

          3  development, the Department began preliminary

          4  testing of electronic command boards, (ECBs) in

          5  April 2006. A pilot program has begun this week. The

          6  ECBs can store, receive and transmit data in real

          7  time. Using wireless, state-of-the-art technology,

          8  the ECBs will enable Chiefs to better manage

          9  large-scale incidents and keep all Department

         10  members better protected.

         11                 The ECBs provide an improved means of

         12  coordinating responses and communicating at multiple

         13  alarms. Utilizing this new technology, commanding

         14  officers will be able to independently allocate

         15  assigned units and review computerized fire-scene

         16  schematics and/or blueprints of buildings. The ECBs

         17  will allow information to be fed back to the FDOC,

         18  where staff Chiefs will be able to make on-scene

         19  assessments, provide tactical support and supervise

         20  operations.

         21                 With the ECBs, the Department will be

         22  able to retain all incident command information from

         23  its transmission to the FDOC.

         24                 Therefore, should the ECBs be damaged

         25  during operations, the FDNY will still be aware of
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          2  critical information about the job, such as the

          3  local of all deployed resources.

          4                 The FDNY will be the first department

          5  in the country to use this type of wireless

          6  technology. We are anticipating a Department-wide

          7  roll out by mid-2007.

          8                 Interoperability. We have enhanced

          9  interoperable radio communications through the

         10  installation of ACU-1000 units in the Department's

         11  two Field Communication units and two Mobile Command

         12  Vehicles. The ACU-1000 takes disparate radio

         13  frequencies in use, with the VHF, UHF, 800 megahertz

         14  or cell phones, and patches them together so that

         15  personnel on different channels can communicate with

         16  each other.

         17                 This allows FDNY Chiefs using their

         18  radios to patch in and communicate directly with

         19  other City personnel, for example OEM and NYPD and

         20  with the FBI and other federal agencies.

         21                 Also, all FDNY fire operations handie

         22  talkie radios are now programmed with two dedicated

         23  interoperable frequencies, one shared with the NYPD

         24  and one with our EMS personnel. These point-to-point

         25  frequencies allow for better communications among
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          2  our first responders.

          3                 The Department has been an active

          4  participant with DoITT in its development of new

          5  communications and dispatch centers. When completed,

          6  we will have a more efficient, integrated dispatch

          7  system for the NYPD, FDNY and EMS in New York City.

          8                 Over the last year and a half, the

          9  FDNY has also issued approximately 200 dedicated

         10  interoperability radios to all FDNY officers from

         11  Battalion Chief level and above. These supplemental

         12  radios, received through DoITT, allow FDNY Chiefs to

         13  monitor interoperability channels without having to

         14  move off of FDNY firefighting tactical channels.

         15                 To conclude, I'd like to thank you

         16  for the opportunity to speak with you today. I would

         17  be happy to answer your questions, once everyone in

         18  the panel has concluded their testimony.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         20                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Good morning, Madam

         21  Chair, Chairman Vallone, Chairman Martinez, and

         22  members of the Council. I am Inspector Charles Dowd,

         23  the Commanding Officer of the Communications

         24  Division of the New York City Police Department. I

         25  am joined today by Inspector Jay Kopstein of the
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          2  Office of the Chief of Department.  On behalf of

          3  Police Commissioner Raymond W. Kelly, I would like

          4  to thank the City Council for this opportunity to

          5  address this joint oversight hearing to provide an

          6  overview of the Police Department's current

          7  capabilities, along with an overview of its future

          8  plans with regard to radio communication.

          9                 The officers, supervisors and

         10  executives of the Police Department require a

         11  full-service communication environment that is

         12  operational 24 hours a day, seven days a week,

         13  throughout New York City.

         14                 The Communications Division is

         15  entrusted with providing this essential service to

         16  the members of the Police Department.

         17                 While noting that the Department's

         18  radio technology had not failed on September 11th,

         19  the McKinsey Report of 2002, published in the

         20  aftermath of the attack, identified radio network

         21  augmentation as an improvement priority for the

         22  Police Department.

         23                 The Department has, and continues to

         24  make, radio infrastructure upgrades in a number of

         25  areas.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Inspector, there

          3  is some noise going on outside, if you could just

          4  pull the microphone a little closer to your mouth,

          5  we'll see if that works.

          6                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Sure.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks.

          8                 INSPECTOR DOWD: The Police Department

          9  units coordinate with each other through the use of

         10  UHF, or Ultra High Frequency, portable radios.

         11  Broadcast signals are transmitted through a

         12  redundant network of over 1,200 receivers at 300

         13  sites located across the five boroughs.

         14                 These sites are themselves supplied

         15  with secondary power sources, such as batteries and

         16  generators, to prevent the loss of transmission

         17  capability in an emergency.

         18                 The network has a highly

         19  sophisticated remote monitoring system that allows

         20  us to affect changes as needed to correct equipment

         21  malfunctions.

         22                 The number of transmitters covering

         23  the City allows the Department a great deal of

         24  flexibility. The transmission of radio waves can be

         25  affected by a number of both manmade factors and
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          2  weather conditions. Multiple levels of redundancy

          3  and sustainability are two of the key design

          4  characteristics of the current Police Department

          5  radio communications infrastructure.

          6                 These strengths are being augmented

          7  by improvements that I will discuss later in detail.

          8                 The 37,000 portable radios currently

          9  in use by the Department are a mixture of Motorola

         10  SSE5000 and Saber models, along with the Vertex 537

         11  and 800 models. The Department continues to upgrade

         12  its portable radio through continuous testing and a

         13  phased introduction of new equipment.

         14                 From August 2005 to March of this

         15  year, the Department distributed over 3,500 new

         16  Vertex VX-800 portable handheld radios to detectives

         17  and Police Department executives. Not only are these

         18  radios capable of receiving and transmitting on over

         19  200 channels, they also exhibit increased battery

         20  life and include voice encryption capabilities.

         21                 Detectives tasked with investigative

         22  duties in the field find these new radios to be

         23  extremely user friendly due to their smaller

         24  dimensions.

         25                 Interoperability has been and will
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          2  remain a priority for the Police Department. Of

          3  course, the most desirable means of interoperation

          4  remains face-to-face communication.

          5                 At the most basic level, the Police

          6  and Fire Departments have assigned ranking officers

          7  to each other's agency to ensure coordination and

          8  information sharing. Implementation and continued

          9  use of the Citywide Incident Management System or

         10  CIMS has also greatly improved our ability to

         11  collaborate and exchange information among the

         12  City's agencies.

         13                 The Department has also established a

         14  protocol that requires an NYPD member be assigned to

         15  the FDNY incident command post at the scene of any

         16  fire that reaches two alarms.

         17                 This memo will facilitate

         18  communications between the two departments, as well

         19  as perform the tasks requested by the Fire

         20  Department incident commander.

         21                 Should the fire reach four alarms, an

         22  NYPD Captain will be assigned to the Fire Operations

         23  Command Center at Metrotech Center.

         24                 As CIMS continued to be used at both

         25  scheduled exercises and actual incidents,
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          2  coordination, cooperation between this agency and

          3  others grows commensurately.

          4                 Supplementing the personal

          5  interoperability described above, the Police

          6  Department maintains six dedicated interoperable UHF

          7  channels designed for interagency coordination.

          8                 One channel is designated for

          9  Citywide use, while the other five are divided by

         10  City borough. These channels were allocated to the

         11  Department by the federal Communications Commission

         12  as a member of the New York Metropolitan Advisory

         13  Committee, and the NYPD maintains them, for itself,

         14  as well as for other regional public safety

         15  organizations.

         16                 Department Executives of the Rank of

         17  Captain and Above are assigned compatible radios, as

         18  are the appropriate members of other City agencies.

         19  This form of interoperability is routinely and

         20  jointly tested as part of our interagency drills,

         21  and has been utilized in the field on a regular

         22  basis.

         23                 For example, for every two-alarm fire

         24  or above, an interoperability channel is made

         25  operational for the use of responding police and
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          2  fire commanders. These channels continue to operate

          3  around the clock every single day of the year.

          4                 This system also has the capability

          5  of patching a variety of federal agencies that

          6  operate in the metropolitan area.

          7                 These agencies normally maintain

          8  their own interoperable channel for use during major

          9  events or emergencies. Now this federal channel can

         10  be drawn into one of the regional interoperability

         11  channels so that appropriate members of federal,

         12  state and local agencies can coordinate and

         13  cooperate with greater precision than ever before.

         14                 Many incidents that we prepare for

         15  daily will involve the specialized skills and

         16  equipment of two elite units: the Department's

         17  Special Operations Division and the Fire

         18  Department's rescue units.

         19                 In anticipation of this necessity,

         20  since 2004, the NYPD has designated a tactical

         21  channel for interoperable use in localized

         22  interagency incidents. This is a direct

         23  point-to-point channel that operates without the use

         24  of a repeater, and is strictly limited to a small

         25  number of highly-trained units.
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          2                 Many state and local law enforcement

          3  agencies are authorized to use NYPD frequencies and

          4  emergencies. The NYPD and the Port Authority of New

          5  York and New Jersey  have conducted joint testing to

          6  ensure that adequate radio interoperability is

          7  available at all three major airports.

          8                 The Police Department also operates a

          9  device capable of creating and maintaining

         10  communications links, between various organizations

         11  responding to an incident in New York.

         12                 The TRP-1000 is a self-contained

         13  system that can provide communications

         14  interoperability between organizations and agencies

         15  that typically utilize a variety of radio types and

         16  frequencies that may normally not be compatible.

         17                 They can also link these radio

         18  networks to both land line and cellular telephones

         19  if need be. The Department maintains 12 of these TRP

         20  units for emergency incidents.

         21                 While this system does greatly expand

         22  the opportunities for interoperable communications,

         23  its use is largely restricted to connecting tactical

         24  channels in order to avoid frequency overloading.

         25                 For example, appending a number of
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          2  frequencies together can result in an overburdened

          3  single channel due to the number of users. The

          4  Police Department also has a number of ongoing

          5  projects that will not only augment the capabilities

          6  of our current radio communications network, but

          7  also open up new avenues for progress in the field

          8  of interoperability.

          9                 Within the Department we intend to

         10  change the way we distribute radios to our officers,

         11  so that every individual officer department-wide

         12  will be assigned on a permanent basis their own

         13  radio.

         14                 Early tests of this distribution

         15  plan, not only indicate improvement in the

         16  serviceability of portable radios, but also an

         17  increased ability for NYPD officers to communicate

         18  across the City.

         19                 In time, every officer will be able

         20  to respond to any event in any borough and

         21  immediately begin to communicate effectively with

         22  other NYPD officers regularly assigned to that area.

         23  The pursuit of interagency interoperability

         24  parallels our efforts to increase our ability to

         25  cooperate and coordinate within the Department.
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          2                 Improvements are also being made to

          3  the existing interoperable channels that I described

          4  earlier.

          5                 The Police Department has been

          6  awarded a Department of Justice grant to fund the

          7  transformation of three out of the six current

          8  interoperable channels into expanded wider area

          9  coverage channels.

         10                 This expanded transmission range will

         11  allow the integration of additional public safety

         12  agencies in the metropolitan area, including Nassau,

         13  Suffolk, Westchester and parts of New Jersey, into a

         14  true regional emergency radio network.

         15                 The Department is working with

         16  Motorola to implement the modifications and

         17  enhancements needed to make this project a reality.

         18                 When completed, New York City will

         19  possess the comprehensive means to bind

         20  communications between a myriad of local agencies in

         21  the event of an incident.

         22                 The Police Department also intends to

         23  add to the communication's infrastructure additional

         24  redundancies.

         25                 I would like to illustrate the
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          2  importance of this work by first describing how

          3  radio transmissions are received and processed by

          4  the NYPD network.

          5                 When an officer speaks on his or her

          6  portable radio, the signal is picked up by a number

          7  of the 1,200 receivers mentioned earlier. All the

          8  receivers able to obtain the officer's transmission

          9  relate via telephone line to one of several hub

         10  sites. At the hub site, the various versions of the

         11  transmissions are immediately and automatically

         12  evaluated to strengthen clarity with the best one

         13  relayed back to other officers in the field and

         14  directly to the dispatcher. This system allows for

         15  clearer radio communication, but the portion of the

         16  process where the signal is relayed to and from the

         17  hub site is tied to the City's established telephone

         18  and power infrastructures. This means that signal

         19  transmission is prone to disruption should there be

         20  a failure of either Con Edison's electrical grid, or

         21  the Verizon Corporation's phone number.

         22                 The Police Department is already

         23  addressing this issue with the installation of a

         24  dedicated microwave linked system to provide hub

         25  sites with the ability to circumvent the use of
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          2  telephone land lines.

          3                 This microwave system operates by

          4  allowing hub sites and receivers to continue to link

          5  by transmitting the same voice data via microwave

          6  transmission. The microwave transmitters are to be

          7  located at the secured hub sites with emergency

          8  generators protecting the system from power

          9  interruption.

         10                 While this program is still in the

         11  implementation stages, it should be noted that the

         12  Department's Citywide and special operation

         13  frequencies already have this additional safeguard.

         14                 In time, all of the Police

         15  Department's frequencies will be resistant to any

         16  disruption in power or telephone service.

         17                 Finally, the Department has partnered

         18  with the New York City Transit to enhance radio

         19  coverage in the subway system. There are some

         20  technical obstacles that are being addressed by new

         21  technological developments which will prevent the

         22  interference currently being experienced in that new

         23  system, and help to enhance in tunnel coverage. The

         24  Police Department is already prepared with

         25  appropriate portable radios for its Transit Bureau
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          2  personnel when this project is completed.

          3                 The Police Department continues to

          4  develop and adapt new technologies for use in our

          5  radio communications network. At the same time, we

          6  will continue to enhance our cooperation and

          7  coordination with other City agencies, as well as

          8  other regional public safety organizations in the

          9  greater metropolitan area.

         10                 We believe that continuing to

         11  innovate and build on previous successes in these

         12  areas will enable us to continue to provide

         13  emergency services for New Yorkers that is second to

         14  none.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  address these issues today. Inspector Kopstein and I

         17  will be pleased to answer any questions you might

         18  have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Before you

         20  continue, I just wanted to welcome some other

         21  Council members, from Queens, I believe, Avella,

         22  Gennaro and Addabbo. We have a lovely commute from

         23  Queens.

         24                 MR. BERGMANN: Thank you. And good

         25  morning, again, Chairpersons Brewer, Martinez and
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          2  Vallone, and members of the Committees. I am Ron

          3  Bergmann, First Deputy Commissioner of DoITT, and

          4  with me today is Mitchel Ahlbaum, DoITT's General

          5  Counsel and Deputy Commissioner for Franchise

          6  Administration.

          7                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          8  testify regarding improvements in communication

          9  technology among first responders, especially as

         10  related to the Citywide Mobile Wireless Network.

         11  When complete, this network will represent an

         12  historic enhancement to public safety communications

         13  in New York City.

         14                 As you have heard, the Bloomberg

         15  Administration has made substantial improvements in

         16  communications technology for first responders.

         17                 In describing these improvements, the

         18  best way to begin my remarks, is to distinguish

         19  between two primary types of communication being

         20  addressed today. Two sides of the same coin that

         21  together can be termed first responder

         22  communications.

         23                 The first component is traditional

         24  voice communication, achieved through radios, by

         25  public safety personnel, and what my colleagues from
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          2  the Police and Fire Departments have just described

          3  in detail.

          4                 The second is data communication,

          5  which will be greatly enhanced by the Citywide

          6  Mobile Wireless Network.

          7                 Today I will be speaking primarily

          8  about this new data network, however, I would like

          9  to briefly outline some additional accomplishments

         10  with respect to voice communications.

         11                 The City has recently implemented a

         12  major radio enhancement through an upgrade to its

         13  800 megahertz radio network. Now, with more robust

         14  platform, which provides multiple borough-based

         15  transmit sites, the 800 megahertz radio network

         16  offers improved coverage and capabilities throughout

         17  the City.

         18                 This network provides a means for

         19  secondary responders to have interagency

         20  communication during major incidents through the use

         21  of specialized talk groups.

         22                 The City's main interoperability talk

         23  group is enabled by the ALERT channel. The ALERT

         24  channel is currently available to responders in 56

         25  City, State and regional agencies, as well as 78
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          2  hospitals and health facilities.

          3                 Another channel on the network

          4  provides a dedicated talk group for more than 40

          5  agency commissioners, allowing for high level,

          6  interoperable communications among agency heads as

          7  needed.

          8                 The 800 megahertz Radio Network is

          9  monitored on a 24 by 7 basis by the Office of

         10  Emergency Management, which conducts regular roll

         11  calls among the entities that utilize it.

         12                 In the event of an emergency,

         13  designated personnel in these agencies would switch

         14  to the appropriate channel to share information and

         15  facilitate coordination.

         16                 As a result of these initiatives that

         17  you have heard about today, New York City's

         18  interoperable systems are now considered to be among

         19  the best in the country. The City continuously works

         20  with the Department of Homeland Security to meet

         21  federal mandates related to interoperability. In

         22  August, the City reached a significant milestone

         23  when it successfully conducted interoperability

         24  exercises with DHS, as part of a requirement to

         25  validate the region's capabilities.
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          2                 DHS evaluators surveyed interoperable

          3  communications resources across the New York urban

          4  area, the protocols for using interoperable

          5  equipment, and procedures for communicating during

          6  major incidents.

          7                 The City received very positive

          8  feedback on its systems and protocols, evidenced by

          9  the acceptance of the region's Tactical

         10  Communications Interoperability Plan.

         11                 Complementing improvements in voice

         12  communications are the City's efforts to establish

         13  enhanced data communication for public safety and

         14  public service personnel. A critical need exists for

         15  a high-speed network to provide advanced,

         16  interoperable data communications among and across

         17  key agencies.

         18                 Our emergency responders, the world's

         19  best, need access to new and varied types of

         20  information and applications both on a daily basis

         21  and during large-scale events. A dedicated network

         22  ensuring them the use of the tolls required to

         23  protect New Yorkers is essential. A second

         24  consideration to enhance the City's infrastructure

         25  became evident as the Bloomberg Administration
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          2  continues to improve the City's quality of life,

          3  namely enabling the City's mobile workforce across

          4  all agencies to enhance service delivery to the

          5  public.

          6                 To that end, the City embarked on a

          7  collaborative process that included the NYPD, FDNY,

          8  OEM and the Department of Transportation, as well as

          9  DoITT. This team developed robust technical

         10  requirements and defined specifications for

         11  high-speed mobile wireless network.

         12                 Among others, the criteria developed

         13  related to data throughput, in-street coverage,

         14  security, reliability, scalability, and integration

         15  for the support of multiple classes of applications.

         16                 After issuing a Request for Proposals

         17  in March 2004, the evaluation committee reviewed

         18  responses from some of the country's top systems

         19  integrators. They held vendor presentations,

         20  completed exhaustive technical evaluations, and

         21  selected two vendors to participate in a pilot

         22  program to determine that best demonstrated the

         23  ability to meet the City's requirements.

         24                 The result of these efforts,

         25  announced by Mayor Bloomberg in September, was the
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          2  selection of the Northrop Grumman Corporation to

          3  build a Citywide Mobile Wireless Network.

          4                 The most aggressive commitment by any

          5  municipality in the country to provide a

          6  next-generation public safety network, the Citywide

          7  Mobile Wireless Network, will give first responders

          8  from the Police and Fire Departments high speed data

          9  access to support large file transfers, including

         10  federal and state anti-crime and anti-terrorism

         11  databases, fingerprints, mug shots, city maps, and

         12  full-motion streaming video.

         13                 A fully-interoperable IP-based

         14  network, the Mobile Wireless Network, will enhance

         15  coordination by linking first responder personnel

         16  on-scene with incident managers at remote sites

         17  through real-time data and video feeds. Other City

         18  agencies will be able to utilize the network during

         19  non-emergency periods to fulfill many public

         20  services, including health and safety inspections

         21  and various maintenance activities in the field.

         22                 To build, equip, and maintain this

         23  network, and to provide technical support to DoITT,

         24  Northrop Grumman has been awarded a five-year, $500

         25  million contract.
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          2                 To help fund the build-out of the

          3  network, the City has secured roughly $20 million

          4  from the Department of Homeland Security and we will

          5  continue to aggressively pursue any available

          6  funding. The funding that we will pursue will be

          7  used to support our most important investment.

          8                 The Mobile Operational Network is

          9  expected to be operational throughout Lower

         10  Manhattan, the area below Canal Street,

         11  river-to-river by January 2007, and will be

         12  implemented throughout the five boroughs over the

         13  following 18 months.

         14                 The Mobile Wireless Network contract

         15  was awarded after a thorough evaluation process by

         16  representatives from the NYPD, FDNY, DOT and DoITT,

         17  with the support of the City's independent quality

         18  assurance consultant, the New York State Technology

         19  Enterprise Corporation, or NYSTEC. This evaluation

         20  included a seven-month pilot period in a section of

         21  lower Manhattan.

         22                 The selection was based on a

         23  performance in a series of nearly 150 tests,

         24  evaluated against rigorous technical criteria. The

         25  selected vendor proved that its technology was
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          2  successful in emergency simulations and multiple

          3  failure scenarios, including the loss of commercial

          4  power and telecommunication services.

          5                 The technology also allowed emergency

          6  communications to be prioritized over non-critical

          7  communications. During a key component of the pilot,

          8  the City conducted a successful interoperability

          9  exercise, which included, Police, Fire, EMS, OEM and

         10  DOT, during which the network was programmed to

         11  simulate an emergency incident. Northrop Grumman's

         12  solution allowed responders in the field to

         13  communicate with their operations headquarters and

         14  send and receive critical information during

         15  demanding conditions.

         16                 So, during a critical event, or

         17  during a normal workday, what does this mean for

         18  first responders in the City's mobile workforce? I

         19  spoke earlier about the Mobile Wireless Network's

         20  supporting multiple classes of applications, and I

         21  would now like to describe them in more detail.

         22                 The first class, Wireless Broad Band

         23  Public Safety Applications, includes high speed data

         24  and video to support access to agency applications

         25  and provide large data and image file transfers.
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          2                 So, for example, the network would

          3  enable access by police officers to real time photo,

          4  warrant, and license plate databases for

          5  identification of suspects and criminal

          6  investigations and enhance access for detective

          7  units for the NYPD's real time crime center.

          8                 It would also enable the Fire

          9  Department to establish reliable, wireless

         10  connectivity between its Operations Center and

         11  responders in the field to transmit on-scene data

         12  and full motion, streaming video. It would also

         13  provide remote access to operating procedures, maps

         14  and other geographic information, to support the

         15  FDNY's existing and planned technologies.

         16                 Class 2 supports Automatic Vehicle

         17  Local, or AVL technology, which has been installed

         18  in nearly 1,100 fire trucks and fire ambulances

         19  Citywide. The Mobile Wireless Network will further

         20  enhance these AVL systems, which already contributed

         21  to decreasing ambulance response times, by providing

         22  real time maps and data base updates.

         23                 The network will also allow for the

         24  expansion of AVL technology to vehicles of other

         25  agencies.
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          2                 As you know, the City maintains a

          3  fleet of over 25,000 vehicles, and AVL can achieve

          4  the goals of more efficient fleet management and

          5  increased safety for field workers.

          6                 Class 3 supports Wireless Call Boxes

          7  for the public to summon emergency responders when

          8  needed. These self-contained, IP-based phone boxes,

          9  operated by solar battery power, are intended for

         10  deployment in areas without access to wired

         11  telephony or commercial power.

         12                 Class 4 supports Wireless Traffic

         13  Signal Control. The Department of Transportation can

         14  use the network to expand its ability to remotely

         15  monitor and program traffic signal controls, both on

         16  a daily basis and during emergency events. The

         17  Mobile Wireless Network will provide secure,

         18  redundant and reliable transmission of incident

         19  information, including photos and video, and enable

         20  DOT to further improve safety, ease traffic flow,

         21  and reduce congestion.

         22                 Moreover, the Mobile Wireless Network

         23  will support a range of additional public service

         24  applications that will provide significant

         25  improvements over existing technologies for the
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          2  City's mobile workforce, by automating and

          3  streamlining time-consuming transactions and

          4  processes.

          5                 For instance, the network can

          6  facilitate new automated water meter reading

          7  technology for the Department of Environmental

          8  Protection, which will likely reduce costs

          9  associated with conventional methods of reading

         10  water meters. This technology will also improve

         11  customer service by increasing actual read rates,

         12  providing customers with better consumption

         13  information and detecting potential water leaks.

         14                 Since the Mayor's announcement, we

         15  have continued to work in close consultation with

         16  City agencies to help determine how the network can

         17  be used to enhance the ways they serve the public.

         18                 As the network is built out, we

         19  welcome the Council to tour the network operation

         20  center to view some of the many functions that the

         21  Municipal Wireless Network will offer our first

         22  responders and agency partners. Council Members

         23  Vallone and Brewer and Council staff have already

         24  toured the facility, and we would be happy to offer

         25  the Council additional sessions at your convenience.
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          2                 At this time, we would like to

          3  demonstrate some aspects of the Mobile Wireless

          4  Network's capabilities. The portable devices now

          5  being passed around by DoITT's staff are outfitted

          6  with a wireless card from the network, and we are

          7  demonstrating several types of applications that are

          8  capable of running on this network.

          9                 The four applications being

         10  demonstrated for you are City Share, which is the

         11  City's Internet Home Page, video from a responder

         12  vehicle outfitted with the mobile camera, currently

         13  driving on the west side, south of Chambers Street,

         14  and a fixed mounted video camera located on a

         15  rooftop nearby.

         16                 In addition, there's a live streaming

         17  video of New York 1 news.

         18                 Thank you, again, for the opportunity

         19  to testify today. As you can imagine, DoITT is very

         20  excited about the potential use of the Citywide

         21  Mobile Wireless Network, and I hope you will agree,

         22  it will play a significant role in helping to keep

         23  New Yorkers safe and secure.

         24                 When complete, the network will be

         25  one worthy of the world's greatest City, and the
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          2  people who protect it on a daily basis. As always,

          3  we welcome your feedback and comments and would now

          4  be pleased to answer any questions you have.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That concludes

          7  the testimony of the panel, okay.

          8                 First of all, let me commend you all

          9  for the work you've done regarding improving

         10  communications.

         11                 As some people may know, this hearing

         12  was adjourned from a few weeks ago because there was

         13  some concern, I believe on the part of the

         14  Administration, that more time was necessary to

         15  answer some of our questions, and I think it was a

         16  well -- I think it worked well, because your

         17  testimony was very extensive and answered many of

         18  our questions already. Of course, we have more,

         19  don't worry, but many of them were answered.

         20                 Many of our questions regarding

         21  police and fire will involve the implementation of

         22  some of this new technology, so I think it's best to

         23  begin then with our Technology Chair, Council Member

         24  Brewer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 I agree with Council Member Vallone,

          4  incredible testimony and effort. And thank you for

          5  the tour, also.

          6                 My question is just generally, I know

          7  from listening to Ron Bergmann and DoITT that

          8  obviously it's going to be a data system, and we

          9  heard a lot about radios today which I'm not as

         10  familiar with, so my question is when the Northrop

         11  and the Wireless System is implemented, which I know

         12  it will be fairly soon City, then just so the public

         13  understands, as well as us, how do you see the two

         14  systems working together? Obviously, one is voice

         15  and one is data, so just on the general level, how

         16  does that get implemented?

         17                 I think it's exciting that, obviously

         18  for field people, not only the first responders, but

         19  hopefully as time goes on, other City agencies will

         20  be able to have this kind of data for any kind of an

         21  emergency, and emergencies are all different kinds.

         22                 I just was wondering, once this

         23  incredible system is implemented, how do the voice

         24  and data work together, if necessary?

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:
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          2  As you heard from my colleagues in the Fire and

          3  Police Departments, I think that there have been

          4  vast improvements in voice communications, and it

          5  probably makes sense to have separate networks to

          6  ensure that there are different paths for

          7  information, voice and data to follow.

          8                 The Citywide global wireless network

          9  will have some voice capabilities, as I mentioned in

         10  my testimony.

         11                 One of the classes relates to the

         12  idea of having emergency call boxes in areas that

         13  aren't wired, and be solar powered and be able to

         14  connect wirelessly to the central network.

         15                 These are intended, not for regular

         16  use, they're intended for occasional use, and while

         17  the technology is there to allow for a voice, the

         18  idea here is that the configuration of a network,

         19  the way it's designed, the way it's constructed, is

         20  intended to be for data. So, we intend to keep it

         21  for two separate paths, although there are voice

         22  capabilities, and those will be explored as we

         23  develop a network and implement it over the next 18

         24  months.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The other
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          2  question I have is, obviously it's a large City, it

          3  has tall buildings, some of them are thicker perhaps

          4  than in other cities or other countries in terms of

          5  the construction, and I know that redundancy is

          6  perhaps the most important challenge.

          7                 So, I just wanted to maybe reiterate

          8  or talk a little bit more about the kind of system

          9  that would be in place so that there is no overload,

         10  no crash, and I know that there is a way that, as

         11  described yesterday during the tour, a special kind

         12  of operation that allows the wireless to go around

         13  anything that would be in the way.

         14                 That's my layperson description.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         16  It's a very good description. And you're right, it's

         17  one of the reasons why it was determined to have a

         18  private and dedicated network associated primarily

         19  for first responder data needs, is to ensure that we

         20  had adequate power, in the case of a power outage,

         21  that we had redundant paths, and that we can ensure

         22  the liability and priority in the case of a major

         23  event.

         24                 So, the high sight solution that was

         25  chosen, allows for significant Citywide coverage and
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          2  street coverage is primarily what the evaluation

          3  committee was aiming for, but as you see from the

          4  demonstration here, we are able within the structure

          5  of this building and its thick walls to receive

          6  coverage inside as well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then just

          8  finally, we could come back, the training is very

          9  important to a system that's complicated, and I just

         10  didn't know if the vendor, the City, how is the

         11  training allocated both for the initial and then the

         12  ongoing.

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         14  That's a very good question. The training is

         15  important, but my goal is to make this seemless. For

         16  example, right now we have a very robust and

         17  reliable Citywide network that is wired. We use

         18  fiber and we use cable. What we hope to enable is

         19  the creation of the Citywide Mobile Wireless

         20  Network, simply as an extension to that, to the

         21  mobile workforce. So, that's essentially seamless,

         22  whether you're at your desk or in a mobile vehicle

         23  or in the street doing an inspection. So, the idea

         24  is that under the contract, Northrop Grumman will

         25  provide training and users and to technology people

                                                            51

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  within the agencies and to ensure that we have

          3  proper management and maintenance of the system.

          4                 In addition, we have arranged for a

          5  Train The Trainer program, so that City mentors can

          6  be trained and they can then carry forward the

          7  training within their agencies.

          8                 But the goal is to really make sure

          9  that people as end users can interact with their

         10  application on a mobile device, similar to what

         11  you've just seen so that they can interact with

         12  their systems in the field.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And then just

         14  finally, something that the public is concerned

         15  about. I know that the City has a different

         16  position, but in the situation we're obviously

         17  trying to do a wireless network for the public

         18  Citywide, and this is a public safety network. Do,

         19  you ever see the possibility of there being enough

         20  of a firewall so that the public could also take

         21  advantage of such a Citywide system?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         23  As you know, the EDC, Economic Development

         24  Corporation is now doing a broadband feasibility

         25  study that I know that you have been consulted on
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          2  and they are looking into the opportunities and

          3  issues associated with broadband and municipal

          4  wireless.

          5                 In addition, as you know, the Parks

          6  Department is implementing that in a few parks, and

          7  even on our map, on the Internet at NYC.gov, we do

          8  provide the public with information about free Wi-Fi

          9  spots that are available to them.

         10                 This network was designed as a

         11  private network to ensure security and to ensure

         12  that it was primarily used for first responders and

         13  for City agency use.

         14                 To configure it for Municipal Wi-Fi,

         15  is a whole another dimension of back haul, of

         16  capacity and throughput. So, it is not currently

         17  intended for use under that scenario. I think we

         18  need to wait for the recommendations that come out

         19  of the EDC study to really determine a go forward

         20  strategy.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Chris O'Brien is

         22  on the hot seat.

         23                 All right, thank you very much, and I

         24  look forward to questions later.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Commissioner,
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          2  before we finish with you, you mentioned in your

          3  testimony on page three, that this contract was

          4  awarded after a thorough evaluation process by

          5  representatives from the NYPD, FDNY, DOT and DoITT;

          6  why wasn't OEM involved in that?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

          8  OEM was involved. They were involved in helping with

          9  the design, as well as in the evaluation of the

         10  emergency scenario that was held as part of the

         11  evaluation. We held an emergency scenario in Lower

         12  Manhattan where OEM was one of the agencies that

         13  under load testing was able to connect remotely

         14  under stressful conditions that were simulated by

         15  Northrop Grumman in this case to ensure that they

         16  had the ability to connect to their agency

         17  applications.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The original

         19  press release you guys put out and your testimony

         20  doesn't have them involved in the evaluation

         21  process. They're they agency responsible for

         22  coordinating response of different agencies.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Yes, I

         24  would only add that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Just identify
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          2  yourself, please.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: I'm

          4  sorry. Mitchell Ahlbaum, Deputy Commissioner at

          5  DoITT.

          6                 During the process they also played a

          7  very active advisory role, so they were involved in

          8  the tests, they were involved in an advisory

          9  capacity, they were involved in putting together the

         10  specifications, system design. They were really

         11  involved throughout the process. If the testimony

         12  makes it, or the press release made it sound as

         13  though they were on the evaluation committee, it

         14  shouldn't, but they certainly were involved

         15  throughout the process.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. What

         17  is the time line for implementation of this new

         18  system?

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         20  We expect in a few months, January, to be able to

         21  have Lower Manhattan, which would be south of Canal

         22  Street, River to River, fully enabled and up and

         23  running. That will allow us to begin the process of

         24  testing applications in this area working with the

         25  agencies.
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          2                 And over the next 18 months, there

          3  are various sectors that are going to be brought on

          4  line with the idea that at the end of the 18 months,

          5  the system will be fully operational.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Northrop Grumman

          7  will be giving us a presentation after this panel,

          8  so it's unfortunate to some who are watching, they

          9  don't really understand what you're discussing until

         10  they get that presentation. But what kind of

         11  training will you be providing to the first

         12  responders, who will be using this technology?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         14  Sure. As I mentioned, I think the idea here is that

         15  we are able to create a seemless network so that

         16  first responders are able to interact with the

         17  applications and tools and video in a seemless way.

         18  But we're going to be working with agencies on a

         19  technology basis and to ensure that they understand

         20  how to interact with the network, and with end users

         21  to ensure that they are trained in the tools and

         22  applications that they'll be using on a daily basis.

         23                 Northrop Grumman will be working on

         24  that with us, and will also be training managers

         25  within agencies to do Train The Trainer.

                                                            56

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay.

          3                 Let me move on to the Police

          4  Department. Obviously there were many

          5  recommendations made by the McKinsey Report, and I

          6  believe in a Public Safety hearing in 2002, Ray

          7  Kelly testified the task forces were being formed to

          8  concentrate on the improvements recommended by the

          9  McKinsey Report.

         10                 Did those task forces issue

         11  recommendations? And what were they? Let's start

         12  specifically, there are a few recommendations by the

         13  McKinsey Report, one of the problems that occurred

         14  was clutter on the lines, on the communication

         15  lines, and how has that been addressed?

         16                 INSPECTOR DOWD: That's partly a

         17  technology problem, but it's also an operational

         18  problem, in the sense that one of the misconceptions

         19  from the onset with interoperability is a lot of

         20  people that aren't initiated to the subject think

         21  it's a great thing if we can make one big channel

         22  and put everybody on that, Chair Brewer kind of

         23  mentioned it in her opening statement, and that's

         24  always not a good thing.

         25                 So, that interoperability has to be
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          2  structured in such a way so that people at the

          3  appropriate levels are interoperating in the

          4  appropriate way.

          5                 So, we try to break it down by a

          6  command and control level of interoperability, an

          7  operational level, and also we mentioned in a

          8  tactical level. That's one of the ways that you're

          9  going to prevent the type of clutter or excessive

         10  transmissions that you might experience on one or

         11  two frequencies during a large scale incident.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, I believe

         13  the clutter that McKinsey was discussing, because

         14  there was not much interoperability back then, it

         15  was basically on the police communication

         16  themselves, that critical information didn't get

         17  through. And clearly understandably, so many people

         18  were using the radios to radio for all sorts of

         19  purposes.

         20                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Again, because of the

         21  number of frequencies we have, and we also mentioned

         22  that we are issuing portable radios to everyone,

         23  those radios now have expanded channel capacity, so

         24  that will allow us to break down any operation onto

         25  different levels or different channels within
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          2  Department frequencies. So, rather than have

          3  everybody responding to a large scale incidence say

          4  on one of our Citywide frequencies, we could use

          5  more than just our Citywide frequencies, we could

          6  use borough-based frequencies, with cops, say, for

          7  example, cops responding to the Bronx -- from the

          8  Bronx to a 9/11 type scenario into Manhattan, would

          9  now on these newer portable radios, have the ability

         10  to not only work on the Citywide channels that they

         11  typically would have worked on back then, but

         12  they'll have other frequencies available to them

         13  that currently aren't on those radios they use

         14  because of channel capacity issues.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: But you've

         16  increased the amount of radio frequencies that can

         17  be used by police individually?

         18                 INSPECTOR DOWD: We've increased the

         19  number of frequencies on the portable radios. We

         20  have the same number of frequencies. What the

         21  problem previously was, say, for example, on the

         22  radios that we were using let's say five years ago,

         23  they had a limited channel capacity. There were only

         24  a certain number of channels you could put on them.

         25  We now, for example, on the Vertex-537 radio has
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          2  over a 500-channel capacity. The Vertex-800 radio

          3  that I mentioned that the Detective Bureau uses has

          4  an over 200-channel capacity. So, there won't be an

          5  issue of having to jam everybody onto one common

          6  frequency, because we'll have the option of

          7  directing them to alternate frequencies to handle

          8  different assignments within a large scale incident.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If I remember

         10  correctly, the Vertex's were only distributed to

         11  detectives, or a small amount of officers.

         12                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Or people.

         14                 INSPECTOR DOWD: What we've done with

         15  those is we've assigned those to every detective or

         16  every uniformed member of the -- which detectives

         17  are within the Detective Bureau, we've assigned

         18  those radios to every Captain and above, and we are

         19  in the process of implementing a changeover to the

         20  Vertex radio and also to the SSE5000 radio from

         21  Motorola, which has a 96-channel capacity, which is

         22  beyond our number of frequencies right now.

         23                 So, as we switch over to those newer

         24  radios, they will have this flexibility inherent

         25  with their portables.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's good

          3  news.

          4                 Regarding that recommendation, the

          5  clutter on the radios, is there anything else that

          6  you still need to address and will address in the

          7  future?

          8                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, the other issue

          9  is one of transmissions and radio discipline, which

         10  is addressed through training. The other way we're

         11  looking to address that is all of these new radios

         12  will have, what we refer to as a unit ID capability,

         13  where we can hear who is transmitting, where the

         14  system will know who is transmitting. There is a

         15  project in place to allow us to know every time

         16  someone keys their radio, which radio was keyed, and

         17  because each officer will have their own radio, his

         18  or her own radio, we'll know who is keying it.

         19                 That lends itself to allowing us to

         20  control what's transmitted and eliminate

         21  unauthorized or just unnecessary transmissions.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You mentioned

         23  individual IDs, I was going to go into this later,

         24  but I know the Fire Department, I believe through

         25  information that I was handed before this, can
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          2  identify individual firefighters based on their

          3  radios, regardless of where they are, but I want to

          4  get into that in a moment.

          5                 The Police Department, regarding

          6  individual IDs of officers, their locations, can

          7  that be done -- is it done through a radio, is it

          8  done through their cell phone? What is being done in

          9  that regard?

         10                 INSPECTOR DOWD: It would not

         11  currently give you their location. What it would do

         12  is it would identify the radio that was

         13  transmitting. So, if the radio was, for example,

         14  assigned to Inspector Dowd, if I were to key up, the

         15  system would know that it was Inspector Dowd keying

         16  up his radio.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've had

         18  hearings regarding cell phone, E 9-1-1 cell phone

         19  communication, and obviously the technology is out

         20  there regarding cell phones, that you can locate

         21  someone based on their cell phones. Is that

         22  something -- apparently that is not something that

         23  exists right now at the Police Department; is that

         24  something you're looking into?

         25                 INSPECTOR DOWD: We have looked at it
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          2  initially. It may be something we can work with at

          3  DoITT as far as the new Citywide wireless network

          4  where we might be able to bring in some capacity or

          5  ability that way. But it's not something that's

          6  anywhere in the near future right now.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, there are

          8  chips that are in the phones, most of the cellular

          9  phones now-a-days that have that capability. It

         10  doesn't seem like a big stretch to have that sort of

         11  capability within the Police Department, immediate

         12  locate officers who may not be locatable. Why

         13  wouldn't that be something you would be looking at

         14  to implement?

         15                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, we are. But,

         16  again, the ability to put that chip in a portable

         17  radio still has to be addressed on what they call

         18  the back-haul side. You have to have the

         19  infrastructure available and capable of looking at

         20  those devices and now translating that information

         21  into a location. So, certainly something that we're

         22  absolutely interested in, and of course we're

         23  looking at AVL, and starting a pilot project through

         24  DoITT with AVL for radio cars.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: For AVL?
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          2                 INSPECTOR DOWD: AVL, Automatic

          3  Vehicle Location data.

          4                 So, we're doing that. We're in the

          5  process of doing that with our Department radio

          6  cars, our pilot project for that.

          7                 Would we like to extend that if it's

          8  successful to portable radios individually?

          9  Absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Will this new

         11  system, the Northrop Grumman system, assist you in

         12  any way?

         13                 INSPECTOR DOWD: I don't know if Ron

         14  --

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         16  Yes. With regard to Automatic Vehicle Location, we

         17  will, for example, be able to jail (sic) locate a

         18  radio car, fire vehicle, at a particular location at

         19  a particular time and be able to see a history.

         20                 In addition, as you may know, DoITT

         21  is responsible for providing cell phones to City

         22  agencies, and we have the capability of going to

         23  explore the ideas of having GPS functionality turned

         24  on. As you know there's an expense but --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It's hard to
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          2  hear you. Please speak into the mike.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

          4  I'm sorry.

          5                 We are going to explore the idea of

          6  using GPS functionality in cell phones that are

          7  provided to many City employees. So, we'll take a

          8  look at that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I would

         10  recommend that highly. It sounds like a very

         11  functional technology which should be used,

         12  especially when it comes to location of first

         13  responders.

         14                 I know the Fire Department may have

         15  something different to say about this, though. Like

         16  me ask you, is it possible to locate individual

         17  firefighters based on your radio?

         18                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Chairman,

         19  generally at this time we cannot locate, we can

         20  identify-- the Police Department has just spoken

         21  about the individual that has just transmitted the

         22  last message over this handie talkie we can ID that

         23  individual, we are in the process through DHS, we

         24  had a few vendors in this industry come into

         25  headquarters last week, we're going to try and do a
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          2  little testing next month, I believe. The problem is

          3  they can locate longitudinal and latitudinal, but

          4  they can't give you the actual vertical direction of

          5  the individual. We can tell where his cross street

          6  might be, but we can't tell if he's on the first

          7  floor or if he's on the 20th floor at this

          8  particular time. Technology is still evolving to

          9  give us that information. We have vendors coming in,

         10  as I said, next month and hopefully we can move

         11  forward for DHS's help to get that safety

         12  information added to our personal protective

         13  equipment.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'd ask that all

         15  different agencies just keep us advised as to the

         16  progress in that regard.

         17                 Back to the Police Department. The

         18  second McKinsey report was, recommendation regarded

         19  land line communications. Obviously there was a

         20  failure of these land line communications back on

         21  9-1-1, so I wanted you to address that failure and

         22  what's been done since then to improve that.

         23                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Land line failure, on

         24  9/11 all of the land lines in police headquarters

         25  failed, that was due to the damage that was caused
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          2  primarily to the Verizon Central Office located at

          3  West Street, which by the end of the day that day

          4  had ceased functioning, created a whole list of

          5  issues, both for us, I remember the stock exchange

          6  was out of business again, because all the back haul

          7  involved with the Verizon Network was unavailable.

          8                 What we've done to address that

          9  issue, say, for example, for police headquarters, is

         10  that all of the telephone numbers at headquarters

         11  now reside in two different area codes. So, if you

         12  wanted to call my desk phone, there is two different

         13  area codes and then the same seven digit number that

         14  you can dial, and they take diverse routes.

         15                 So, if there's a major failure of the

         16  central office or one of the central offices in the

         17  connectivity on one of those area codes, you can

         18  dial in on the other area code and get the same

         19  person on that phone.

         20                 The other issue was that one of the

         21  weaknesses that was identified on September 11th was

         22  the fact that although 9-1-1 service stayed up at

         23  MetroTech because it has a redundant central office

         24  architecture, the back-up site at One Police Plaza

         25  was serviced by only one central office. So, if we
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          2  had, for example, lost that central -- which we did,

          3  the back-up center became unusable to us. The

          4  back-up 9-1-1 center at police headquarters is now

          5  also serviced by two redundant central office

          6  stations from Verizon.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: It should be

          8  noted here that when you say back-up center, we

          9  still don't have what's called PSAC II, which would

         10  be full redundancy on our 9-1-1 system, something

         11  I've spoke to Commissioner Kelly about at every

         12  hearing Commissioner Kelly shows up, and I'm

         13  continually informed, as you probably know, that

         14  it's in the process of being established. But the

         15  back-up system you speak about is nowhere near

         16  capable of handling an entire failure of the 9-1-1

         17  system.

         18                 Do you have any update? And I know

         19  I'm putting you on the spot here, but would you have

         20  any update regarding the establishment of a complete

         21  PSAC II?

         22                 INSPECTOR DOWD: I think I'd like to

         23  defer to Commissioner Bergmann on that because it is

         24  a DoITT-run project.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, you know,
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          2  because it originally wasn't a DoITT issue. I

          3  continually forget that, it was moved over to DoITT.

          4                 Well, let me switch over to the DoITT

          5  Commissioner then.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

          7  We are, obviously, on having anything to do with the

          8  Public Safety Answering Center, are working very

          9  closely with Police and Fire and Department of

         10  Citywide Administrative Services. So, the Public

         11  Safety Answering Center, or PSAC II, will serve as

         12  you know, as the redundant emergency communication

         13  facility to mirror and load-balance the PSAC

         14  facility that currently exists. And while the

         15  procurement is still in progress, and I can't

         16  comment on the specifics, I can tell you that a site

         17  has been identified, and excellent progress is being

         18  made as we speak, with regard to DCAS holding

         19  negotiations with the owner, and the completion of

         20  the first step, we should know more about that very

         21  soon.

         22                 So, I'm very satisfied that since we

         23  last spoke --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I have been

         25  hearing that for four years now. And I'm aware of
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          2  things that I'm not allowed to say here in public,

          3  but let me again just urge you to get that done as

          4  soon as possible. It's imperative that we have a

          5  redundancy on our 9-1-1 system.

          6                 Back to the Police Department.

          7  Another McKinsey recommendation was the problem with

          8  overloaded cell phones. As we're all aware,

          9  now-a-days police officers rely on their cell

         10  phones, perhaps more than they should, and much of

         11  that communication was knocked out on 9/11 also

         12  because of overuse. So, please address what you're

         13  doing concerning that issue.

         14                 INSPECTOR DOWD: That's still an issue

         15  that's I think a problem for everybody because we're

         16  using the commercial networks, you know, for that,

         17  and there's just, quite frankly, limited capacity on

         18  how many calls can go through anyone's cell phone

         19  site at any one time, it was experienced to a large

         20  degree at the incident in Upper Manhattan with the

         21  plane crash recently, we had one of the major

         22  carriers come in and describe for us what they saw

         23  on their system, as far as its uses and capacity,

         24  and in the first half hour after that plane crash,

         25  the attempts to use the local cell site, the closest
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          2  cell site on their system, the attempts to hit it

          3  went up five-fold.

          4                 So, it is a problem. A couple of the

          5  technologies that we're looking at right now is

          6  prioritization for public safety, cell phone users,

          7  all of the major carriers have some form, or in the

          8  process of developing some form of privatization on

          9  cell phone usage.

         10                 Hopefully within the next year

         11  they'll be able to prove that technology to us, and,

         12  you know, we would look to take advantage of that.

         13                 And the only other thing that I could

         14  say is that in possibly in the future, and, again,

         15  it's kind of unsure right now, is that this new

         16  wireless network that Commissioner Bergmann was

         17  talking about might be able to help us in that area

         18  as well.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'll let Gale do

         20  some follow-ups on that later because I don't

         21  believe we're using voice technology on this new

         22  system, which is a concern of ours. But let me let

         23  you end these McKinsey questions with anything you

         24  think we should know about your findings regarding

         25  the McKinsey report and your implementation of the
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          2  recommendations.

          3                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, a couple of

          4  things that I already mentioned in my prepared

          5  testimony was the fact that we're building out the

          6  infrastructure to be even more robust than it

          7  already is. And I think a key part of that is this

          8  microwave system. It's actually two microwave

          9  systems, one larger and one smaller, that would

         10  protect us against the types of failures that we

         11  experienced on September 11th, and also the type of

         12  failures that we experienced during the blackout in

         13  August of 2003. The two major Achilles Heels, as it

         14  were, for those types of radio systems are power and

         15  connectivity, which is typically supplied by

         16  Verizon.

         17                 Those will be addressed by utilizing

         18  sites that are both battery and generator protected

         19  and also utilizing the microwave, which is actually

         20  statistically more reliable as a back haul method

         21  than Verizon T1 lines, for example.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. My last

         23  question before I go to my co-chair, and fellow

         24  Council members, is regarding your testimony on page

         25  four, finally the Department is partnered with the
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          2  New York City Transit to enhance radio coverage in

          3  the subway system.

          4                 Whenever MTA gets involved, we get

          5  very nervous here at City Hall. There are obviously

          6  recent press reports, and I'll read from one which

          7  says that "The FDNY would have to obtain two new

          8  radio frequencies from the federal government which

          9  presents problems for the completion and

         10  implementation of the system." So, I wanted to know

         11  about the progress of communications in the subways,

         12  and if that press report was accurate?

         13                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Chairman

         14  Vallone, Commissioner Stanton can address you on

         15  that issue.

         16                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Good

         17  morning.

         18                 Currently the subway system has two

         19  repeated channels installed for Fire. I think that

         20  press release may be related to some of the issues

         21  we're having regarding the under-river tubes that

         22  connect the different boroughs, but the conventional

         23  radio system is in place in the subway system. We've

         24  actually engaged a QA vendor to go out and assist us

         25  and test the coverage and verify that it meets our
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          2  operational requirements.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Well, just why

          4  don't you update us right now. One of the complaints

          5  we get here constantly is the fact that our first

          6  responders can't communicate in the subway system.

          7  What is the extent of the communication now? And

          8  what is the time line for improvement?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: In

         10  terms of the subways, as I said, there are two

         11  channels throughout the subway system in all

         12  boroughs throughout the City, and we have engaged a

         13  QA vendor --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Two channels is

         15  not the answer I'm looking for. Those channels, do

         16  they serve the purpose? Are first responders able to

         17  communicate on those two channels or not?

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Those

         19  two channels are dedicated strictly for fire, and

         20  they serve the needs and the requirements of the

         21  Department.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So, firefighters

         23  can speak to each other in our subway system

         24  anywhere they need to speak to each other right now?

         25                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON:
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          2  That's what the QA vendor is engaged for, to verify

          3  that the coverage meets our operational

          4  requirements.

          5                 I can't sit here and tell you that

          6  every part of the subway system is covered. That's

          7  why we've engaged a QA vendor to help us ensure

          8  that. If it doesn't, then we go back to the MTA and

          9  say the coverage is deficient here and we need it

         10  rectified.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I could

         12  save you a lot of money: The coverage is deficient.

         13  There are a lot of locations where firefighters

         14  cannot reach each other. If you're trying to

         15  determine where those locations are and fix that,

         16  that's a good thing. If you're spending money to

         17  determine whether it's deficient, I can save you

         18  some.

         19                 So, what is the time line for this

         20  vendor to make the recommendations, and what is

         21  necessary for you to make the improvements?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: The

         23  vendor has been engaged. We started detesting.

         24  Unfortunately, we're on a little bit of a hiatus,

         25  the original testing equipment they had used was
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          2  much to bulky and heavy to allow us to do this

          3  expeditiously so they've gone back to redesign it.

          4                 The original intent is to have them

          5  assist us in testing ten to 12 systems, document

          6  what those issues are, then we will determine

          7  internally within the Fire Department whether we

          8  continue to do the testing ourselves, or whether we

          9  would need additional assistance from the vendor to

         10  help us to complete it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Again, I

         12  have a lot more questions, but I know that our

         13  resident expert in fire communications has yet to go

         14  and I know he has questions on repeaters and things

         15  like that.

         16                 If it doesn't come up, I would like

         17  you all to run us through a hypo regarding an

         18  incident in the communications and how they are now

         19  different from how they used to be. But let me first

         20  go to my Co-chair Miguel Martinez.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         22                 I just want to follow up on the line

         23  of questioning of Chair Vallone.

         24                 In April when we had the hearing

         25  regarding the communications in the subway station,
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          2  Chief Cassano, to testify that the system, the

          3  repeater system through our subway system was nearly

          4  completed.

          5                 He also went on to say that there

          6  have been reports that the Fire Department wouldn't

          7  -- well, after this hearing there were some reports

          8  that stated that the Fire Department would need to

          9  obtain two new radio frequencies from the federal

         10  government in order to complete the system. Has that

         11  happened? And what's the status on that project?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Yes,

         13  as I had said before, the two frequencies that I

         14  believe that they're referring to, is to allow us to

         15  have full coverage through the under-river tubes of

         16  the subway system.

         17                 MTA has gone back to look at a

         18  redesign of that to attempt to eliminate the need

         19  for those additional frequencies, and we're waiting

         20  to hear back from them, and as soon as we hear, we

         21  will let you know.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I just want to

         23  share the same sentiment that Council Member/Chair

         24  Vallone, when the MTA gets involved, it scares us.

         25  The fact that now they're going back and making the
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          2  recommendation, did the Fire Department also agree

          3  with the MTA that maybe you don't need those two

          4  frequencies? Or this is a decision made by the MTA?

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: We

          6  want back to the MTA and say we don't feel it would

          7  be the best solution to have those additional

          8  frequencies and we want them to come up with

          9  something else.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So you agree

         11  with the MTA.

         12                 Chief Sweeney, I want to ask you for

         13  my benefit, can you tell me the difference between,

         14  and the NYPD, the capability of the hand-held radios

         15  that you utilize? For example, I know that the NYPD

         16  uses the Motorola 5000 and the Fire Department uses

         17  the Motorola 3,500. Is there some difference between

         18  that, capacity-wise?

         19                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I can speak

         20  on the Fire side. Those radios are submersible,

         21  they're intrinsically safe, they allow us up to 48

         22  channel capacity, they allow us multiple power

         23  levels and those radios at this time meeting the

         24  Fire Department requirements.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And the NYPD,
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          2  you get more capacity?

          3                 INSPECTOR DOWD: We get more capacity

          4  with them. And by the way, the radios that we use

          5  are all compatible, so there is no issue as to

          6  whether or not they could be used upon our network

          7  or whether the Fire Department radios for that

          8  matter could be used on our network, for example,

          9  because they're all UHF now and that wasn't the case

         10  on September 11th. On September 11th the Fire

         11  Department was using VHS.

         12                 So, the fact that they're using UHF

         13  radios that are very similar to ours allows them to

         14  operate on our frequencies or allows us to operate

         15  on their frequencies, whether it's network

         16  frequencies, or untactical frequencies.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But in other

         18  words, do you have the absolute same capacity, both

         19  radios? Or just that they're compatible, two

         20  different things?

         21                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, they're very

         22  compatible, if that description --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But the radios

         24  that the NYPD use, for example, will have, in other

         25  words, if I'm up in the highrise, I'll have more
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          2  ability to communicate then that of the Fire

          3  Department.

          4                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, it depends on

          5  how you're communicating. If you're communicating on

          6  point-to-point frequencies --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Point-to-point.

          8                 INSPECTOR DOWD: They would have

          9  similar capacities, yes.

         10                 But, you know, if you're transmitting

         11  on -- it's less the portable radio, in my view, it's

         12  more whether you're transmitting on a point-to-point

         13  basis or utilizing a network which has a whole

         14  series of receivers to pick up the signal.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, through the

         16  network you have more an ability to communicate?

         17                 INSPECTOR DOWD: In certain areas you

         18  would. And in particular, the higher you go in a

         19  building, a network's frequency usually gets better.

         20  But then you could still have internal building

         21  issues, depending on how deep inside the middle of

         22  the building you are.

         23                 Our network is built out to give

         24  police officers what we call 99.9 percent in-street

         25  coverage, and 95 percent in building coverage. So,
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          2  you know, for the Fire Department, I would suspect

          3  it might be a little bit of a different issue,

          4  because I think they're looking for even better

          5  building penetration than that, you know, when

          6  responding to the scene of a major fire.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And what is the

          8  Fire Department's building penetration right now

          9  with these radios?

         10                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: It really

         11  depends upon the building structure. Right now,

         12  since Post 9/11, we have issued the post radios,

         13  which have significantly enhanced our in-building

         14  coverage. The UHF frequencies has also, plus we have

         15  higher power levels, which has helped. But really

         16  depending upon the building density and construction

         17  on how the radio propagation waves really are able

         18  to penetrate or not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And what about

         20  the NYPD repeaters; have you been able to use those?

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: No, the

         22  repeaters that NYPD use fits their requirements. As

         23  you know, we have a radio consultant study going on

         24  that's becoming very close to ending. It should be

         25  wrapped up the beginning of next year. We have
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          2  actually brought on a QA consultant to help us

          3  validate the process, validate the recommendations,

          4  and say, yes, this is the direction that the Fire

          5  Department needs to go.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm going to

          7  ask you about that, but I want to, you know,

          8  continue. In reference to the radio, Chief Sweeney

          9  testified, for example, that the Chiefs are able to

         10  communicate with the NYPD and that EMS and non-Chief

         11  personnel are able to communicate on two different

         12  frequencies with NYPD. Why not have one frequency

         13  where everyone communicate with NYPD?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: I'll

         15  try and take that. Right now there's a channel for

         16  on-scene point-to-point communications where Fire

         17  can talk to PD. There is also an on-scene frequency

         18  where Fire can talk to EMS. In Battalion Chief and

         19  above, all the NYPD New York City interoperability

         20  channels are in. So, at any time a Battalion Chief

         21  or above can contact an NYPD dispatcher and have a

         22  communication link with NYPD.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And if EMS

         24  needs help from point-to-point, they're not able to

         25  do that, they have to go through the dispatch,
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          2  correct?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Well,

          4  if they need assistance they could a PD, they could

          5  try the PD channel on a point-to-point, but again,

          6  that would depend upon the proximity of the police

          7  officer and the EMS personnel. EMS portables do have

          8  the PD Citywide channel in it, so if they're not

          9  able to access anyone on the point-to-point, they

         10  can switch to the PD Citywide channel, as well as

         11  the EMS channels.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm trying to

         13  understand. If the Fire Department, EMT and

         14  paramedic can talk on the radio with the CFRD

         15  engine, and the EMS officer can talk directly to the

         16  dispatcher, why not talk directly to the NYPD?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: They

         18  can talk to the NYPD through the Citywide channel

         19  for NYPD or through the interoperability channel.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But not that

         21  point-to-point, not direct?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: They

         23  could talk to a police officer point-to-point. If a

         24  police officer is in proximity of the EMT personnel

         25  to receive the radio signal.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Have you heard

          3  of any complaints from firefighters or fire officer,

          4  regarding the ability or the uses of the radio

          5  emergency alarm?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Are you

          7  referring to the alert signal on the handie-talkie?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Yes.

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I think

         10  initially when they were issued the sensitivity, it

         11  could be controlled, and I think they were issued,

         12  the sensitivity level was extremely high at that

         13  time. So, initially we had some false alerts going

         14  off. We quickly took control of the radio network,

         15  found out what was going on and the member had

         16  indicated he had hit it inadvertently.

         17                 Since that time I think it's been

         18  corrected. They've desensitized it to the point

         19  where you have to hold it in an actual emergency.

         20  Since that time I'm not aware of any complaints

         21  about the emergency alert button.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And for a fire

         23  officer, how will he have to go on the button? Where

         24  does he do it? On the mechanism they have by the

         25  shoulder, or they have to go to the actual reader
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          2  that they have on their waist?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON:

          4  Currently it's a handie talkie, that would be in a

          5  device around your waist. And we have a pilot

          6  program in the Division 11 in Brooklyn now where

          7  it's actually on the remote microphone, it's an

          8  additional alert tone signal up there, which would

          9  be much easier for the firefighters to facilitate

         10  using.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, you are

         12  currently looking at placing the device here by the

         13  shoulder?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Yes.

         15  We've been exploring that pilot program since June.

         16  It's been going very well in Division 11, and we

         17  hope to expand that out to future divisions shortly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Okay. With

         19  regards to, going back to some of the studies that,

         20  again, at the April hearing where Deputy

         21  Commissioner Milton Fischberg testified, that the

         22  pilot program, it was going to conclude in May,

         23  which will allow the Department-wide rollout that

         24  would change the status of the Department electronic

         25  command boards.
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          2                 In other words, changing the board,

          3  rather than using it manually or tracking them with

          4  magnets that would allow the Department to do this

          5  through the CEB board. Has that happened? What is

          6  the status of that?

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Yes, that's

          8  actually one of the McKinsey recommendations.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Correct.

         10                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: The

         11  electronic command board has been one of the highest

         12  priority projects in the Department. It's a vast

         13  change in technology right now, as I'm sure you

         14  know.

         15                 The manual command boards units are

         16  tracked with magnetic tags, the incident commander

         17  would free hand draw a building, and he would

         18  basically put those magnetic pieces within the hand

         19  draw building design. What the electronic command

         20  board does is it electronically changes that to an

         21  electronic mechanism, where units that are assigned

         22  to the specific box, you can then assign them to

         23  whatever building, hand-free drawn building is done

         24  on the laptop itself, and all that equipment is

         25  stored electronically. There is actually a server in
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          2  the battalion vehicle to store it, and the

          3  information is back-hauled to our FDOC, so executive

          4  staff at headquarters can actually see what's going

          5  on on the command board.

          6                 There were some technical issues, and

          7  I'm sure you'll understand with something the size

          8  of this, there were some issues. The pilot actually

          9  started this past Monday and we're going to see how

         10  it goes. I'm sure there will be some additional

         11  glitches as we go along, but the Department is

         12  determined to make this work. It's very important to

         13  the Department and we will see it through to the

         14  end.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, are you

         16  looking, making reference to the explanation you

         17  gave earlier, in terms of being able to actually

         18  track your responders, you mentioned there is a

         19  problem tracking them vertically; are you taking

         20  advantage of the fact that we may, you know,

         21  incorporate having the ability on the board to

         22  actually track where they're actually at?

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Absolutely.

         24  We see the electronic command board as the

         25  centerpiece for the incident commander and we
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          2  specifically had the command board designed, what

          3  they call a non-proprietary interface. So, no matter

          4  what company would come up with an actual

          5  firefighter tracking system, that could be

          6  integrated into the command board.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And can you

          8  tell us overall, how is the Department looking to

          9  utilize the wireless traffic control system?

         10                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I'm not sure

         11  we've determined that yet. Once we I guess see how

         12  it works and how it goes along, we can make that

         13  determination.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And has the

         15  Department requested the capability to change street

         16  light from red to green, in order to reduce the

         17  response time?

         18                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Not to my

         19  knowledge, no.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Because one of

         21  the issues that come up over and over again, and you

         22  made some reference, not directly, there was some

         23  reference made that if we had the GPS system in all

         24  the vehicles, we'd be able to track all the

         25  vehicles, we're going to be able to see location and
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          2  so forth. And one of the issues for us, importantly

          3  for EMS and NYPD and Fire Department, is our

          4  response time. And, you know, DOT and our street

          5  lightings and so forth are incorporated in the

          6  system, I think that's something very important for

          7  us to consider.

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I think it's

          9  a valid point, and I'll defer to Commissioner

         10  Bergmann to see if the system that's going in would

         11  be capable of allowing us to do that.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         13  The wireless traffic control system is one of the

         14  classes in the mobile wireless network that we're

         15  putting up. We are going to be meeting with the

         16  Department of Transportation, which has been

         17  actively involved in this, to discuss how we can

         18  facilitate these kinds of tools for emergency

         19  responders, for facilitating traffic control, for,

         20  for example, potentially using it for mass

         21  transportation vehicles and so on.

         22                 So, what you're describing I think

         23  does make sense. A plan needs to be developed in

         24  order to enable that. We'll be working on that as

         25  the system is being deployed over the next 18
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          2  months.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, the

          4  technology that allows the Fire Department to get

          5  video from NYPD helicopter, now, how does that work?

          6                 Are Battalion Chiefs going to be able

          7  to have the mechanism you just showed us with actual

          8  pictures? Or is this going to go to the central

          9  command, that video?

         10                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: With regards

         11  to the NYPD video feed, when there's a third alarm

         12  or greater we activate an Air Recon Chief. It's one

         13  of the chiefs--

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'm sorry, you

         15  activate a what?

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: An Air Recon

         17  Chief who is specifically trained in helicopter

         18  operations, trained by the NYPD Helicopter or

         19  Aviation Bureau. And if a helicopter is available,

         20  and most of the time short of inclement weather or

         21  other reasons where we would not normally fly, they

         22  do take our chief up there, he tells where he'd like

         23  to go, and we have communications between the

         24  helicopter, the incident commander and FDOC, at Fire

         25  Department headquarters, and we can ascertain
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          2  information from the air, or we could ask him to try

          3  to get a different view of the incident, maybe if

          4  they see something different from up above that we

          5  don't see, and that information is transmitted in

          6  real time.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But where do

          8  you see that from? Is it a central command, or the

          9  actual unit that's responding, the Battalion Chief

         10  or whomever, will have the actual video or the

         11  mechanism, would just show this, or?

         12                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Currently at

         13  this time, it's at Fire Department headquarters.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: At the

         15  headquarters.

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: And when we

         17  have major fire or a major emergency going on, we

         18  have a staff chief that reports to the command

         19  center. He'll ascertain that information. He can

         20  transmit that directly to the incident commander at

         21  the scene.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Would the goal

         23  be to have the actual units have it? I mean, that's

         24  a very unique technology, and important technology

         25  that can save lives, as you know. Having toured a
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          2  fire in the Bronx where we lost a fire officer, you

          3  know, having a video of what the roof of a building

          4  may look like before we send our officers there will

          5  be crucial.

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: It's

          7  absolutely in our plans and that's one of the things

          8  we're looking for to do a broadband network to allow

          9  us to provide, to be able to send that video that we

         10  get from NYPD to our FDOC and then be able to

         11  forward that either to a command vehicle, to a field

         12  com unit or possibly even to the command board for

         13  the incident commander.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, there's a

         15  lot of technology here. Are the apparatus being

         16  equipped or in the plans in the Fire Department, or

         17  in terms of when we order new apparatus, are these

         18  new apparatus going to be incorporating some of

         19  these technologies or most of it is going to be

         20  hand-held by the Chief or Captain or Lieutenants?

         21                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: It will

         22  probably be a combination of the two. We'll have

         23  server-based equipment within the vehicles, and

         24  there will be certain equipment that's taken out

         25  that the incident commander would use.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: As I mentioned

          3  in my opening statement, I had introduced

          4  legislation where we're looking to, in the coming

          5  month, have a hearing on, which will require

          6  highrises to incorporate the repeaters, and that

          7  legislation, again, would enable the Fire Department

          8  to come up with a spec as to what the requirements

          9  needed for those repeaters.

         10                 Now, again, in April we heard that

         11  the Department was working with a consultant IXP to

         12  design and develop a communication infrastructure

         13  involving repeater signal and boosters and other

         14  devices; has the report been concluded? And if not,

         15  what are the preliminary recommendations?

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: As I said,

         17  we are coming right down to the goal line on this.

         18  We've gotten some preliminary recommendations, but

         19  we've hired a QA vendor to validate the process that

         20  we've gone through.

         21                 So, I don't want to tell you

         22  something that may have to change based on what the

         23  QA vendor said, but we anticipate having this

         24  wrapped up by January, February of next year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, in your
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          2  opinion, you think that legislation is needed to

          3  have this infrastructure installed in all highrises

          4  or newly highrises that go up in the City of New

          5  York? Or should it just be solely on a voluntary

          6  basis by developers and owners?

          7                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Although

          8  that hasn't been totally determined, it's my feeling

          9  we will be coming back to you for some type of

         10  legislation. It would be my opinion.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: It's a good

         12  answer.

         13                 Tell us about the tunnels,

         14  communication in the tunnels.

         15                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Part of the

         16  tunnel communications is also going to be addressed

         17  as part of the IXP radio study.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: No advancement

         19  there?

         20                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: There has

         21  been some. I just have to recall. There was some

         22  efforts to put some stuff into the Brooklyn Battery

         23  Tunnel and the Queens Midtown Tunnel. I believe

         24  there was some technical issues that arose. I do not

         25  believe those had been addressed yet, but I can
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          2  follow-up on that and get back to you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Also, in April

          4  we spoke about the fire boxes, and the new plans,

          5  what is the Department's position on where the

          6  wireless call boxes should be replaced, and where we

          7  have existing boxes throughout the City now?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: At this

          9  point there is no policy in place that we plan on

         10  existing our existing cable network or existing

         11  boxes with these wireless ones.

         12                 First of all, in order to even

         13  attempt to test this we would need to get a box

         14  developed, extensive interfacing would have to be

         15  done to our existing computer-aided dispatch

         16  systems, we would have to pilot something, and I

         17  think --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But these would

         19  be wireless. In other words, you have existing old

         20  boxes throughout the City, so we already know where

         21  they're at, and we're just talking about, we have

         22  wireless technology where we have nothing to do in

         23  terms of touching any cables or --

         24                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I

         25  understand. I don't think we've really made a
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          2  determination yet. Like I said, we'd have to develop

          3  the box, make sure it works, and then would have to

          4  take it from there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I am being told

          6  by counsel that there is an ability to produce a

          7  prototype for the boxes at the World Trade Center

          8  currently now?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Well, a

         10  prototype was already developed and actually tested

         11  as part of the pilot.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So that should

         13  give the Fire Department information?

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: It didn't

         15  interface through existing Fire Department systems.

         16  It went through the telephone network. Ours is a

         17  dedicated cable plant that doesn't deal with the

         18  telephone network.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, can you

         20  talk to us about the prototype?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM:

         22  Specifically what about the prototype?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: What is it

         24  doing now, if it's not currently now compatible or

         25  interfaces with the communication of the Fire
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          2  Department?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Well, I

          4  mean that's something we will work with the Fire

          5  Department on. It's also something that can be

          6  complimentary, in areas where, for example, there

          7  aren't power, there isn't power and this is a

          8  solar-powered call box, or there isn't back haul.

          9  So, there are a lot of uses for this call box, in

         10  addition to what the Fire Department meets its

         11  needs. So, going forward, that's what we need to

         12  explore with the Fire Department, is how those call

         13  boxes will be deployed, separately or together or a

         14  combination of both.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: So, let me ask

         16  you a question: How much input does the Fire

         17  Department or -- I wouldn't say much input, level of

         18  communication between the Fire Department and your

         19  agency as you go along in putting together these

         20  plans?

         21                 You know, it seems to me we have a

         22  wireless call box, specifically, you know, to serve

         23  in areas where we may have blackouts, it should be

         24  an automatic that there should be communication with

         25  both, I don't know the level, NYPD, NYPD and Fire
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          2  Department, that this should be a great mechanism

          3  where we have blackouts so that we can now

          4  incorporate the needs of the Department to make this

          5  technology available, rather than us produce the box

          6  and then go back to another study and spend

          7  additional dollars to make it fit the requirements

          8  of the Department.

          9                 Particularly, you know, the issue of

         10  the box is a sensitive issue, because I remember

         11  when I had a blackout in Washington Heights, you

         12  know, it was very difficult to communicate with any

         13  emergency, for emergency medical services or even

         14  the Fire Department or the Police Department,

         15  because we had a blackout.

         16                 And in April we brought the issue up

         17  of what are we doing with the boxes. Here we have a

         18  great opportunity for both Departments to have in

         19  communities that are vulnerable to blackouts, to

         20  have assets to communications to our emergency

         21  services.

         22                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: As I think

         23  you've said, I think we need to look at the box. I

         24  think putting it in areas where we don't have cable

         25  plant accessible is positive. The existing Fire
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          2  Department cable boxes actually receive their power

          3  from our own internal cabling. So, look, it's

          4  something we can look at. Our real thrust for this

          5  broadband project is to be able to get the

          6  electronic command board, the video to and from the

          7  FDOC and some of our other projects moving forward

          8  that need broadband wireless connectivity.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And I share

         10  that with you, but I think that-- and they're very

         11  important goals and objectives that you have in

         12  terms of making sure that those items are aligned

         13  and we get them fast, but you know, it just becomes

         14  redundant, as a City, that sometimes we put a lot of

         15  money into developing and looking at and studying

         16  and we don't take advantage of it since the

         17  inception of producing what we need at a broader

         18  scale.

         19                 And I agree with you, but I think

         20  that these little, I wouldn't say little, these

         21  other items that are being produced as we get the

         22  broadband technology together, it's extremely

         23  important also that we look at the other aspect of

         24  communication in communities where call boxes play

         25  an important role and call boxes, in this case, I
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          2  had mentioned in April, past Administration decided

          3  they weren't important. Communities feel that they

          4  are important, and I think that we should take

          5  advantage of the fact that one is being produced so

          6  that we can incorporate the technologies to enable

          7  our emergency services to access that technology and

          8  then hopefully implementing them and putting them in

          9  these communities.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER AHLBAUM: Right.

         11  And we are now in the process of working with

         12  agencies to develop ways that they can develop

         13  applications to deploy these kinds of devices.

         14                 For example, the wireless call boxes

         15  are of interest to the Parks Department, in

         16  particular, because many areas of the Parks

         17  Department don't have the kind of coverage which

         18  could be enabled by this, college campuses like CUNY

         19  and so on. So, we will work to leverage the power

         20  that this infrastructure provides for City agencies

         21  and for people to summon first responders.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Now, before I

         23  turn it over to my colleague, this is my last

         24  question, is the Department, the Fire Department

         25  involved in the evaluation? Or is it participating
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          2  in the evaluation of the Northrop Grumman group?

          3                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: We were an

          4  active participant. We participated in the

          5  evaluations. We participated in the selection of the

          6  vendor, and we were actively involved.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: And, again, the

          8  Fire Department, the voice, I know that the current

          9  technology doesn't have-- allowed to communicate the

         10  voice with regards to data and video, why are we

         11  asking for voice?

         12                 Fire Department, why aren't you

         13  asking them for voice?

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: As part of

         15  the IXP radio study we are looking to expand our

         16  voice, but if you want Ron, Commissioner Bergmann,

         17  to address why there is not voice on the proposed

         18  broadband wireless system, I think that should be

         19  addressed by him.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: But you're

         21  asking for voice?

         22                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: We are. As

         23  part of the IXP radio study, we're looking to expand

         24  and enhance our voice communications, correct.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:
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          2  The selection criteria and the intent of our RFP was

          3  focused on data. The NYPD and Fire Departments'

          4  requirements were incorporated, along with DOT and

          5  so on, into that solicitation.

          6                 So, that's what we asked for, and

          7  that's what the vendors responded to. There are

          8  voice capabilities that are enabled through this

          9  network. The idea, though, is that the primary role

         10  was for mobile wireless communications for data

         11  primarily on street. The Fire Department and the

         12  Police Departments' needs are also in building, so

         13  in order to enable greater voice communication, it

         14  would require a further study and analysis in order

         15  to make that happen.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: I'll come back

         17  with another round of questioning. I want to give an

         18  opportunity to Council Member Jimmy Oddo.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman. And let me just say to you and Chair

         21  Vallone and Chair Brewer, that you are part time and

         22  overpaid public servants, but you're doing a great

         23  job.

         24                 To the gentlemen at the table and the

         25  ladies in the first row that have been working on
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          2  this, let me just start out with thank you, because

          3  I think this is an incredibly important issue, and

          4  I've come to have a little formula in my head, the

          5  fewer the journalists impress people in the room,

          6  the more substantive the issue and the more

          7  important the issue, and as you can see there are

          8  very few people here so I know we're talking about a

          9  serious matter.

         10                 In early 2001, the Council had a

         11  Committee about the radios in the Department after a

         12  particular incident, and I think everyone thought

         13  that hearing was important at the time, but I don't

         14  think anyone realized, you know, how important it

         15  was, thinking what happened several months later and

         16  the connection, and I certainly believe there was a

         17  connection between the discussion on that day and

         18  the subsequent events on 9/11.

         19                 I was a member of the Fire and

         20  Criminal Justice Services Committee many, many years

         21  ago, and I only this year have joined the Public

         22  Safety Committee, so there was a gap, and I feel

         23  like I'm a little somewhat at a disadvantage. And

         24  this is pretty overwhelming stuff to people who can

         25  barely navigate an X box or a Playstation. We're all
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          2  not Gale Brewer. So, let me take a step back and ask

          3  you a very open ended and generic question: Relative

          4  to September 10th, 2001, are we marginally better,

          5  significantly better, light years better, in terms

          6  of communication in individual agencies and between

          7  agencies? Whoever.

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: In regards

          9  to that question, I would answer that in my opinion

         10  the Fire Department is significantly better, with

         11  regards to both communication between members of our

         12  own Department and members of the Police Department

         13  and other City agencies. I think we've followed the

         14  McKinsey recommendations, we've taken them in

         15  earnest, we've moved forward in a positive

         16  direction, and I think we are extremely

         17  significantly better. We've conducted many

         18  interagency tabletops, many interagency drills at

         19  the different sites throughout the City, we've met

         20  all our counterparts in the Police Department, and

         21  OEM and other City agencies, DEP and EPA, and we got

         22  to know each other on a person-to-person basis,

         23  personal basis, and it goes a long way to increasing

         24  interoperability and coordination once the incident

         25  does take place.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: So, you're

          3  better because of the protocols and the human

          4  communication, as well as the technology?

          5                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: That's

          6  correct. The technology has advanced us, we have the

          7  interoperability radios, we have our command post

          8  radios to support our own communications in highrise

          9  buildings and the repeaters within the battalion

         10  vehicles, as well as the drills with the other

         11  agencies, yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: This may be an

         13  unfair question and I don't mean to exploit

         14  anything, but given everything, given where we are

         15  today, if the similar circumstances happened as on

         16  9/11, you believe that the fundamental change that

         17  we put in place would produce different results,

         18  let's say? I mean, again, I'm not trying to give you

         19  a loaded question, but the improvements that your

         20  agencies and collectively the first responders have

         21  put together, is it such that there would be

         22  tangible differences under similar circumstances?

         23                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I would like

         24  to believe there would be. I am certain beyond a

         25  shadow of a doubt there would be a unified command
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          2  post set up in the vicinity of the incident or

          3  whatever incident we're talking about, we would have

          4  information sharing between at least NYPD and FDNY,

          5  if not other agencies that are assembled at the

          6  command post, and the communications between our own

          7  members and the other agencies has been enhanced

          8  tremendously to the new technology, and in practice

          9  with the CIMS document that came out a few years

         10  ago, we drilled that, we table-topped that with the

         11  NYPD and other agencies, and we have, you know, all

         12  agencies are on board with that, we're following the

         13  protocol of the CIMS and it should lead to a much

         14  safer operation for both first responders and the

         15  public.

         16                 INSPECTOR DOWD: And I think the

         17  Police Department would have to echo that. We think

         18  we're in a substantially better place than we were

         19  prior to September 11th, and in our ability to

         20  respond to things in a cooperative effort,

         21  particularly through CIMS and all the things that

         22  the Chief just cited, as far as training and drills

         23  that we do on a regular basis with the Fire

         24  Department and OEM and other agencies, that just put

         25  us in a better position.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Just for a

          3  specific example of that, I think the Chairman asked

          4  it, and if I zoned out, I apologize, but with

          5  respect to the helicopters and live video feeds, the

          6  FDNY now capable of getting live video feeds from

          7  the PD?

          8                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Yes, we are.

          9  As I mentioned earlier, as long as the helicopter is

         10  able to fly, it depends on the weather most of the

         11  time, overwhelmingly whenever we've requested a

         12  helicopter to put our Chief up, the NYPD has

         13  responded with the helicopter.

         14                 INSPECTOR DOWD: And it was utilized

         15  in the incident in Manhattan with the plane crash.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I apologize. I

         17  was trying to read and listen at the same time, and

         18  I know the Chairman touched on it.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         20  Council member, if I may also add, we have had some

         21  validation in drills and work that has been done

         22  with the Department of Homeland Security about the

         23  systems that we have in place now, and in addition

         24  things are still progressing. There is progress

         25  being made. But that we are regarded as having among
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          2  the best interoperable systems, protocols and so on

          3  in the country.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: In your

          5  testimony, sir, you talked about what type of

          6  information and data can flow. Have you reached out

          7  to the Department of Buildings to see if we can, as

          8  the Counsel said, I don't want you guys to have a

          9  picture of the building, I want you guys to have

         10  actual plans of the building, and, you know, we're

         11  working hard to help DOB increase its technology,

         12  but what outreach has been made to the Department to

         13  get them advanced technologically so that the FDNY,

         14  when it goes to a fire, has all the latest permits

         15  and changes and alterations, because we've seen, you

         16  know, obviously how important that could be. Knowing

         17  that not all alterations are made legally.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         19  Correct.

         20                 We have spoken to the Department of

         21  Buildings, and the Department of Buildings has done

         22  a tremendous amount of work to automate their

         23  systems, and make plans for electronic. And I must

         24  tell you, there is a tremendous amount of excitement

         25  among City agencies to leverage this network and

                                                            108

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  we're going through the planning now to consult and

          3  discuss and review and set some priorities for what

          4  we can do. In addition, there are some Fire

          5  Department initiatives around building plans that

          6  Don can speak to.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Yes.

          8  We're actively engaged with the Buildings

          9  Department, actually working on a project to

         10  digitize building plans, and the clear intent is to

         11  get those building plans, via the broadband network,

         12  to electronic command board, give the incident

         13  commander the tools they need.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I would just

         15  ask, as you progress, not only update these three

         16  Chairs, but Chair Dilan of Housing and Buildings and

         17  myself as the DOB Task Force Chair.

         18                 Let me ask you this, and, again, if

         19  it seems like it's a loaded question, perhaps it is.

         20                 What is so great about Motorola? You

         21  know, are they the only game in town? We have

         22  Motorola products, and you're not going to find a

         23  bigger fan of the Giuliani Administration than I am

         24  in this building and afar. But you know, I read the

         25  book that is very critical of them, and it was very
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          2  painful because they were very critical people who

          3  were person friends of mine, and people I respect,

          4  but, you know, it raises some questions about this

          5  love fest that the City of New York seems to have

          6  with Motorola. I'm not saying Motorola is a bad

          7  product, but the same way I was unnerved by the fact

          8  that the defibrillators that this City buys

          9  continues to be from the same company, I'm unnerved

         10  that Motorola seems to have a monopoly of sorts on

         11  these radios. Are these radios that markedly better?

         12  Or are these radios --

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I

         14  will start, and then my colleagues can also comment.

         15                 We value competition in our

         16  procurements. We are not reliant on one vendor, that

         17  is not our goal. We want to ensure that we're

         18  getting the best products, the best resources from

         19  vendors, and that's an important consideration in

         20  addition to getting the best prices. So, we are not

         21  going to rely on any one vendor for anything, and we

         22  are going to ensure that we have a competitive

         23  environment that allows the best vendors and the

         24  best minds in the country to compete for the

         25  business in New York.
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          2                 In part, you see the new introduction

          3  in part of Northrop Grumman into this new network

          4  where they have extensive experience, globally and

          5  with the United Kingdom and other states where they

          6  are able to leverage that knowledge for us here.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, I welcome

          8  those folks, and I don't know them from a hole in

          9  the wall, and I don't know the Motorola folks from a

         10  hole in the wall, and I don't know if their product

         11  is good, bad or indifferent. But I have to tell you

         12  that any time there is any entity that continues to

         13  win contract after contract in this City, and

         14  particularly in an industry and an arena that is

         15  emerging, is more advanced by the day and there's

         16  lots of money to be made and lots of folks. That's

         17  unnerving.

         18                 Two other points, Mr. Chairman, and

         19  I'll do it quickly. The one is I have to go back to

         20  this notion about why we aren't using voice in this

         21  system. This system seems incredibly advanced to me.

         22  And I know there are apples and oranges, but can you

         23  see a day, and I'm not dumping on the Motorola

         24  people, can you see a day when we ditch all of these

         25  radios and we move our entire communications
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          2  operations through this system? And if so, when?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN: I

          4  don't perceive, at least initially, that we will get

          5  rid of our other, and robust and critical radio

          6  systems for the Police and Fire Department and use

          7  this network instead. There is a lot of reasons for

          8  that, and my colleagues can speak to that in

          9  addition. I'll just give you a couple.

         10                 Number one is that we don't want to

         11  have a single point of failure or rely on one

         12  network solely for everything. So, we build

         13  redundancy, we build back-up power, and to expand

         14  the current network to include more voice

         15  applications is in fact feasible. I perceive that

         16  that would be perhaps a placement for cell phones,

         17  for example, as opposed to the kinds of radios that

         18  are currently in place and used by the Fire and

         19  Police Departments. The design of the network, it's

         20  capable, it's standard spaced and it can be

         21  enhanced. So, it is possible going forward to add

         22  more voice. We have, if you will, a toe in the water

         23  with the fixed alarm boxes that we're talking about,

         24  the call boxes, and we will begin to experiment as

         25  the needs of the agencies arise to deploy the
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          2  network for multiple purposes. And I imagine that

          3  there will be applications and tools and resources

          4  used on the network that we don't now know, and I

          5  think what we have here is an incredible exciting

          6  infrastructure that will support agencies in new

          7  ways and that will be transformative from that

          8  perspective and essentially ultimately be an

          9  extension of what you can do now on your desktop

         10  computer at home or at work.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay. As an

         12  aside, how many people, talking about competition,

         13  how many folks responded to the RFP that resulted in

         14  this selection?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         16  We sent out the RFP that was open to 156 vendors.

         17  There was an ad in the City Record and another 417

         18  vendors requested the RFP and ultimately seven

         19  proposals were received.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And one last

         21  point, Mr. Chairman. It's a parochial point, but

         22  it's an important one because it's right on point.

         23  In March of 2001, when the Fire Department decided

         24  to recall $4 million worth of digital two-way

         25  radios, I wrote to then Commissioner Von Essen to
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          2  bring up an old issue that was important to Staten

          3  Island, the fact that we share a frequency with the

          4  Bronx. And since then I've had this ongoing dialogue

          5  with the FDNY and in fact, had a response sent to me

          6  saying that back in May of 2003, that you know,

          7  we're working towards the Channel 16 project, and at

          8  this time the NYPD didn't anticipate completion of

          9  the project, and a separate Staten Island dispatch

         10  frequency for approximately two years, that would

         11  put us at 2005. Well, it's now 2006, and the latest

         12  correspondence I got from the Fire Department said

         13  that the current projected completion date is May of

         14  2008.

         15                 That is really troubling. I'm not

         16  known for my patience, but even that would drive

         17  Job, or how ever the saying goes, who has great

         18  patience.

         19                 What is going on with this project? I

         20  know it's a complicated project, and a complex

         21  project; when will Staten Island get its own

         22  frequency? And you know, I have folks who are

         23  retired from the job who write me and say that they

         24  hear about at least twice a month incidents where

         25  there is a fire in let's say Ladder 75 in Staten

                                                            114

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  Island, and Engine 75 in the Bronx, and there is

          3  this confusion. I'm told it happens twice a month.

          4  Thankfully, we haven't had any tragedies resulting

          5  from it, but when, you know, it's like the gold

          6  posts seem to move every year, and I'm getting a

          7  little tired of it, frankly.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON:

          9  Councilman, I understand your frustration. We have

         10  it similar on the Fire side. We currently dispatch

         11  on the VHF frequency band. Unfortunately, there are

         12  no other VHF frequencies available, and I think

         13  we've conveyed that to your office. Actually, I

         14  think we actually chatted several years ago in your

         15  office.

         16                 But I'm happy to say that in

         17  conjunction with DoITT and the Channel 16 expansion,

         18  the contract is in place, the design is underway and

         19  the system will be implemented by May of '08.

         20                 Now, once the infrastructure gets in,

         21  then we have to replace the radios in the vehicles.

         22  So, there may be some lag time after that, but the

         23  goal right now is May of '08.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: God willing,

         25  unless I have a complete break down and not a half a
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          2  break down, I'm going to be still in this body in

          3  May of '08, and if we're at the point where we're

          4  looking at 2010, I'm going to grab my would-be

          5  successor by the throat and tell him that this is

          6  going to be a priority.

          7                 Please, let's not have another delay.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: Well,

          9  God willing I'll be here also.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: And let's pray

         11  that in the interim, you know, the folks in the

         12  Bronx don't think that that's, you know, command is

         13  going to Staten Island or whatever, could screw up.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate

         15  your indulgence. Thank you, folks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Oddo. And may I say you are also an

         18  excellent part-time public servant.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Who gets too

         20  large of a lulu.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We were joined

         22  by Council Members DeBlasio and Foster, who had to

         23  leave. Council Member Vacca is here also.

         24                 We're going to go to Hiram Monserrate

         25  for questions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair. To the Chair Members Brewer, Martinez,

          4  Vallone, for our very important hearing. I have just

          5  two questions, they're really directed to the Fire

          6  Department.

          7                 I have had the honor of being on the

          8  Fire and Criminal Justice Committee since January

          9  2002, when I first entered this body, and this has

         10  always been a very important issue to me, the issue

         11  of communication.

         12                 I've also sat in this chair for a

         13  series of hearings regarding radios, communications,

         14  repeaters, PSAC, when it's going up, when it's not

         15  going up, when is it being built. And I guess, and I

         16  want to apologize for being late today, but I also

         17  Chair the Veterans Committee and we had a hearing at

         18  the exact same time, so I couldn't be here. Clearly

         19  it would have been my desire to be here from the

         20  beginning to ensure that none of the questions that

         21  I asked were repetitive.

         22                 But I basically have two questions:

         23  The first question is, we had two major terrorist

         24  incidents in New York City, both at the World Trade

         25  Center, immediately after both attacks there was a
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          2  lot of research done, reports issued, some of those

          3  are highlighted here today, and I have basically one

          4  question, God forbid, if there was another serious

          5  disaster, can the Fire Department testify today that

          6  we wouldn't have similar type of breakdowns in

          7  communications? Can we say that today with

          8  assurance?

          9                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I believe we

         10  spoke on this earlier, but to reiterate, in my

         11  opinion, the Department's communication capability

         12  is significantly better than it was on September

         13  10th, 2001. We've increased -- we have our command

         14  posts radios issued to all battalions and divisions,

         15  we have high-rise repeaters built into the battalion

         16  vehicles and division vehicles in Lower Manhattan

         17  and Brooklyn and Long Island City, and we have

         18  interoperability with the Police Department on

         19  designated frequencies so far.

         20                 So, my opinion, the communication

         21  would be increased dramatically, the coordination

         22  and the information sharing would be there at the

         23  command posts, as we would be side-by-side with our

         24  Police Department brethren. I think we are much

         25  better equipped for that scenario today.

                                                            118

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: So, your

          3  testimony is that it would be significant and

          4  better. Obviously that's something that we would

          5  hope for.

          6                 I'm assuming -- let me not assume

          7  anything. In the tabletop exercises that you have

          8  had, the interagency tabletop exercises you have

          9  had, has part of that analysis, has the potential

         10  breakdown of communication been taken into account?

         11  I mean, is there scenarios that the agencies are

         12  looking at where there could be a possible

         13  breakdown? Let's say that communication was broken

         14  down 20 percent, and how that would impact on the

         15  emergency services and how they would be delivered?

         16                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: Inspector

         17  Kopstein from the NYPD will address that issue.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Before we

         19  get to the NYPD, I want to hear what the Fire

         20  Department's perspective is. The interagency

         21  table-top exercises as I understand that have been

         22  happening, so the communication issue was the worst

         23  in the Fire Department. It was better with the

         24  Police Department. So, I really want to hear from

         25  the Fire Department's perspective. When you're doing
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          2  these table-top exercises, are you taking into

          3  account the possibility, right? Because we need to

          4  deal with the variables, the possibilities of a

          5  percentage of breakdown. I'm sure that today

          6  communication is better. I don't know how much

          7  better it is. You said significant. I don't know

          8  whether we could quantify that. But to the extent,

          9  are we taking into account that there probably could

         10  be a breakdown of communication, and what would your

         11  testimony be as if there was a percentage of

         12  breakdown, how much impact would that have? Are you

         13  taking that into account?

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: We do take

         15  into account communication failures. We've addressed

         16  our capabilities within buildings. We have our

         17  command post radios at selected levels within a

         18  building, so if we were to lose communications, we

         19  have tactical channels, and we have command

         20  channels. If we were to lose communication with one

         21  of those channels, we could switch to the alternate

         22  channel. We have channels built into our

         23  handie-talkies that transmit, are higher wattages

         24  than other channels. Those are also possibilities.

         25                 We do have redundancy built into the
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          2  system. We do drill on that, if we do lose

          3  communications, what our alternatives would be.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Thank you.

          5                 I'm going to leave this part of

          6  questioning alone. I hope it is really better, and I

          7  hope that our City never is challenged the way it

          8  has been challenged.

          9                 But I just want to say that there has

         10  been a series of City Council time put into this

         11  issue of communication by all these respective

         12  committees, and I just want to be very clear that,

         13  you know, we are expecting, there is a full

         14  expectation that never again will there be a break

         15  down of communication that will inhibit the delivery

         16  of emergency services. And I'm sure that that's the

         17  desire of all of you on that panel.

         18                 My second question is, is really

         19  directed towards our local EMTs and paramedics. I

         20  know that prior the paramedics and EMTs carried

         21  police radios that they were able to sign out of

         22  different precincts. This allowed them to have

         23  immediate access in an emergency to the police

         24  dispatcher and for the local precinct sector cars to

         25  immediately hear any calls for help.

                                                            121

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2                 And I also understand that as a

          3  policy now the Fire Department is not permitting the

          4  EMTs or paramedics to carry those radios; is that

          5  true? And if so, why is that?

          6                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I am not

          7  aware of that issue. I can get that information and

          8  get back to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Okay, I'm

         10  aware of the issue, and I'm asking the following: I

         11  know that the EMTs are not being allowed to carry

         12  police radios in many of the routes that they have

         13  throughout our City. It used to be a standard

         14  practice that when paramedics or EMTs had a route,

         15  they went to the local precinct and signed out a

         16  radio, and if there was an emergency they would be

         17  able to contact a police officer, not only for their

         18  own safety, even for public safety. A paramedic or

         19  an EMT could see a robbery or a burglary happening

         20  and call immediately for help, as opposed to going

         21  to a dispatcher who then has to make a phone call.

         22                 So, I just want to say for the

         23  record, that I'm very concerned about this policy. I

         24  don't think that that policy should exist, and I

         25  think that if we have an opportunity to have other
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          2  first responders with immediate access to police

          3  dispatchers, that's a good thing. That promotes

          4  their own personal safety, the members of your

          5  agency, and it promotes the safety of New York City

          6  residents, which is what we all want.

          7                 So, that's more of a statement than

          8  an answer, since you've already stated that you

          9  don't know about this issue. And I would request

         10  that we have a response specifically on the issue of

         11  paramedics and EMTs who are on 9-1-1 calls, having

         12  the permission to use -- have in their possession a

         13  police radio.

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON:

         15  Councilman, if I could just clarify Chief Sweeney.

         16                 As he said, I wasn't aware of EMS

         17  signing out police radios at specific precincts, but

         18  all EMS radios do in fact have the NYPD Citywide

         19  channel, that could contact NYPD that way, and there

         20  is also a point-to-point channel that if they were

         21  in proximity to a police officer, they could use

         22  that channel as well.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE: Let me

         24  then, it happened to my own personal knowledge, the

         25  Citywide band that's used goes to a dispatcher, and
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          2  then that dispatcher sends that message to the local

          3  dispatcher who then puts that over there. That can

          4  take several minutes.

          5                 What I'm speaking to is, when

          6  paramedics or EMTs are working in a certain area,

          7  they can be working, let's say for argument's sake,

          8  the 110 and the 115 Precinct, two of the precincts,

          9  areas which I represent, that means that they would

         10  have the same radio frequency, and if they picked up

         11  the radio in an emergency and called for help

         12  because their personal safety was in jeopardy, or

         13  the safety of a New York City resident was at

         14  jeopardy, they could immediately call over the air,

         15  the sector cars, the local precinct cars, that are

         16  patrolling that area for help. That's a difference

         17  of minutes. And in an emergency, minutes can make

         18  the difference between life and death. So, I want to

         19  make that clear, and I want to make it clear what

         20  I'm requesting of the Fire Department is to ensure

         21  that there is a policy in place where those local

         22  paramedics and EMTs can sign out a radio, if

         23  available, at the local precincts to ensure that

         24  they have direct contact for their safety, and for

         25  the safety of New York City residents.
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          2                 I think that at the end of the day,

          3  we're talking about Civil Service employees, both

          4  responders, both employees of the City of New York,

          5  and it just makes common good sense. I just want to

          6  make that clear distinction, between what they have

          7  now and what they should be able to have.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         11  Council Member. Some very good points. Let me add

         12  that I concur with Council Member Monserrate,

         13  regarding the amount of time it takes to go through

         14  a police dispatcher. And in fact, I'm informed that

         15  your testimony, Assistant Commissioner Stanton,

         16  regarding the ability to actually contact the police

         17  officer on the street may be incorrect, that they

         18  had that ability, they had that chip in their phone,

         19  and that chip was taken away from them and they

         20  can't actually ever contact a police officer on the

         21  street. Do you have a difference of opinion with

         22  that?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER STANTON: I

         24  have a respectful difference of opinion. I will

         25  doublecheck my facts, but it's my understanding

                                                            125

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  there is a point-to-point channel in multiplier

          3  radio and EMS radio to directly contact PD. If I am

          4  incorrect I will stand corrected and I will get back

          5  to you to let you know.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And we will

          7  follow up with you on that. We thank you.

          8                 Chair Martinez would like to ask the

          9  PD actually if the case is actually that EMS is no

         10  longer allowed to obtain a police radio from the

         11  precinct.

         12                 INSPECTOR DOWD: To my knowledge we

         13  never put in place a policy where EMS would not be

         14  able to use the frequencies.

         15                 It may just be an issue of

         16  reprogramming of EMS radios. I mean, the Fire

         17  Department and the Police Department can follow up

         18  on that, but we have no prohibition against them

         19  using those local frequencies in an emergency.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Chief, I just

         21  want to get some clarity. What Council Member Hiram

         22  Monserrate stated was that they were able to

         23  physically get a radio, not go into a frequency but

         24  get a radio from the precinct that they would be

         25  able to utilize. He's saying that's no longer the
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          2  policy not allowed. Were there any time allowed to

          3  actually go in the precinct to get a radio?

          4                 INSPECTOR DOWD: My experience in the

          5  past, and that's probably prior to my even having

          6  this position is that you would see on occasion EMS

          7  teams coming into a station house and signing out a

          8  radio, if a radio was available.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, we will be

         11  following that up with a letter and get information

         12  on that.

         13                 We do want to get to this

         14  presentation of technology, but I do want to just

         15  very quickly ask NYPD and OEM, who I know we have a

         16  representative from, and we'll go into this in more

         17  detail in person, but how do you plan right now to

         18  implement what we're about to see a presentation of,

         19  this new broadband network? What uses would you

         20  foresee the Police Department putting it to?

         21                 INSPECTOR DOWD: You know, we could be

         22  here for hours. This is so wide open, and the

         23  ability to send data is going to be such a useful

         24  tool that -- we're almost like kids in a candy store

         25  right now, as far as all the possibilities of that
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          2  system.

          3                 But just for example, one thing that

          4  we can't do right now, which would be of tremendous

          5  use, is just the ability to send a photograph

          6  through this network. If a cop on the street is

          7  doing a warrant check, you know, our experience, and

          8  I know this is going to be heard to believe,

          9  sometimes people lie to us when we're doing warrant

         10  checks, you know, so, you know, you may have run a

         11  name and a date of birth that might give you eight

         12  or nine or ten different possibilities, and

         13  typically what you'll see sometimes is one

         14  individual will use more than one date of birth but

         15  similar dates and similar names kind of flip things

         16  and you're looking at ten possible hits that this

         17  person might be the person, but the cop on the

         18  street is frustrated because he or she is uncertain

         19  as to whether or not they've got the right person.

         20  And you don't want to be dragging somebody into a

         21  station house that isn't the right person.

         22                 So, just on that level, the ability

         23  to transmit a photograph with a warrant check would

         24  be a huge advantage to the cops on the street.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, I arraigned
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          2  many of those multiple personality defendants

          3  myself, so I know what you're speaking about.

          4                 OEM, I'll go into that with you when

          5  we're done, but let's go to Council Member Gerson to

          6  finish this up, who does say he'll be brief. It's

          7  hard to believe, but does say that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Chair. One person's brevity is another

         10  person's lengthiness. But I do want to follow up on

         11  one or two points. I had to step out to deal with a

         12  hostile situation in my district. I heard some of

         13  your testimony, but I have read and studied it all,

         14  and I appreciate it and I thank you.

         15                 I just need to follow-up for a moment

         16  on the points raised by Council member, my

         17  colleagues Council Member Monserrate and Chairs

         18  Martinez and Vallone on this EMS/NYPD

         19  interoperability. But how many frequencies does the

         20  NYPD now operate, you know, Citywide?

         21                 INSPECTOR DOWD: On voice

         22  communications we have 67.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Sixty-seven.

         24                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So, now
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          2  turning to the FDNY, your testimony was that the EMS

          3  folks have access to only one, the so-called

          4  Citywide; is that correct?

          5                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: That is

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I understand

          8  that that one Citywide is not the -- in addition to

          9  the problems of having to go through the dispatch to

         10  get to somebody who might be around the corners,

         11  that it's also not the easiest to communicate

         12  through, that because of dual uses of that one

         13  frequency, that an EMS person trying to transmit a

         14  voice message is sometimes unable to do so over that

         15  one Citywide frequency now provided; are you aware

         16  of that problem?

         17                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I had not

         18  heard that problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. I think

         20  we'll probably have testimony later on about that

         21  problem in this hearing, so I would ask that you

         22  listen to that testimony and then follow-up and, you

         23  know, evaluate the issue.

         24                 But let me ask, Chief Sweeney, prior

         25  to the merger of the EMS into the FDNY, was it not
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          2  the case that EMS personnel had access to virtually

          3  the range of NYPD frequencies?

          4                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I have heard

          5  second-hand that they have, but I have no knowledge

          6  of that myself prior to the merger.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Does that mean

          8  you don't know the reason for the change following

          9  the merger?

         10                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I do not

         11  know.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think the

         13  microphone was off.

         14                 ASSISTANT CHIEF SWEENEY: I do not

         15  know. I'm sorry.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would ask

         17  that you follow up on those points, and I'll

         18  accentuate the points made by my colleagues from the

         19  perspective of cost effective operations from the

         20  perspective of assuring the safety of both EMS

         21  personnel and NYPD personnel, by the way, who are

         22  benefitted by the ability to have direct radio

         23  contact, I would think, and from the perspective of

         24  assuring the safety of all New Yorkers, it makes

         25  sense to have EMS to go into all sorts of
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          2  situations, in public places, in my district, you

          3  know, the most horrendous of situations, that we

          4  would want them to be able to access certainly their

          5  local precincts and not be confined to one out of 67

          6  or whatever the number is, of police frequencies.

          7                 Let me just briefly, I know you

          8  talked earlier about issues of high-rise radio

          9  communications and subterranean radio

         10  communications. Could you just give a rough sense of

         11  what the scope is, of highrise building locations

         12  which are currently blacked out from radio

         13  communications across. I mean, is it ten percent of

         14  highrise locations in a building would lack radio,

         15  is it 50 percent? What are we talking about in terms

         16  of the problem currently?

         17                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Well, for example,

         18  and I had testified earlier to the network, the

         19  Police Department network and what type of

         20  in-building coverage it gives us, and it gives us

         21  overally Citywide 95 percent in-building coverage.

         22                 Of course, you know, in my house on

         23  Staten Island I'm probably going to get a hundred

         24  percent. In a building, for example, like the Empire

         25  State Building, you might get 80 or 85 percent
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          2  in-building coverage.

          3                 Any tunnel, any subterranean area is

          4  very problem for RF, radio frequencies, to

          5  penetrate. There are things that all three agencies,

          6  DoITT, the Fire Department and Police Department are

          7  looking for, looking at as technologies that have

          8  the potential to solve that problem, but also not

          9  create interference on our existing above-ground

         10  outside network frequencies.

         11                 So, you know, we're striving towards

         12  that. Any way that we could potentially increase

         13  in-building coverage, I think those questions were

         14  asked earlier, is a good thing. You know, we're

         15  proud of the fact that we can without any equipment,

         16  any special equipment in, let's say, for example,

         17  the Empire State Building that we can get 80 to 85

         18  percent in-building penetration, but that still

         19  leaves 15 to 20 percent where you're not going to

         20  get through.

         21                 So, we keep looking at these new

         22  technologies. I mentioned earlier, in response to

         23  Chairman Vallone's, one of Chairman Vallone's

         24  questions, the fact that with the Transit Authority

         25  we are looking at a new amplifier technology that we
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          2  are very --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Subterranean.

          4                 INSPECTOR DOWD: Yes, it would work in

          5  the subway, but that technology has the potential to

          6  translate into a new building system as well.

          7                 So, we're looking at that. We're

          8  optimistic that this is something right there on the

          9  horizon. I know DoITT is looking at this technology

         10  as well, and hopefully it will aid in filling in

         11  that extra, you know, for us, in the Police

         12  Department, that extra, you know, 15 and 20 percent.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I know you are

         14  as eager as we to get universal coverage. I know

         15  we're going to have a hearing on that upcoming, so

         16  I'll move on. I just will urge all of us to commit

         17  the City to the most aggressive ambitious timetable,

         18  you know, possible, to find and develop the

         19  necessary technology, like we committed ourselves

         20  with a timetable to get to the moon, we should have

         21  a more ambitious timetable to have universal radio

         22  coverage, subterranean and above ground, and I know

         23  we'll work together for that goal.

         24                 Finally, to DoITT, I need to ask you

         25  about the Lower Manhattan Pilot Program, where we
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          2  stand on phase I. I believe Northrop Grumman was

          3  designated to implement phase I, why were they

          4  chosen and what is their timetable?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Alan, I just

          6  want to say, while you were gone, unfortunately we

          7  went through all of those --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, this was

          9  covered already. I was under the impression it was

         10  not. If it was, okay. It was not in the written

         11  testimony that I received, at least, but I will

         12  follow up with that, and I thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, Council

         14  Member Gerson does represent that district, so I

         15  would appreciate it if you would spend some time

         16  with him.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER BERGMANN:

         18  We would be happy to and we would be pleased if you

         19  and your colleagues would come to a tour of the

         20  network operation center where you can truly

         21  visualize and see what it would look like in

         22  operation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, I will

         24  look forward to it. We will set that up right away.

         25  Thank you all very much.
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          2                 Thank you, my Chairs.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

          4  Council member.

          5                 I think we all have a few more

          6  questions up here but the time is running late, so I

          7  am going to thank you all for the work you do every

          8  day to keep improving our ability to respond to

          9  disasters. As I think one of you said, our first

         10  responders right up to the top, they're the best in

         11  the world, and there is always room for improvement.

         12  That's what our job is, to make sure that happens,

         13  as is yours. So, we're going to continue to work

         14  together on this. I'm sure there will be many

         15  questions rising out of this hearing we'll be

         16  contacting you on. Many of us will continue to avail

         17  ourselves of the tours, which are very helpful.

         18  Again, thank you all for coming down today. I look

         19  forward to working with you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: I also want to

         21  thank you and state that it's a very impressive

         22  group of testimony and persons who were testifying,

         23  and I know that we all have many more questions to

         24  talk about, you know, priorities, when you have a

         25  number of agencies, who gets priority, who doesn't,

                                                            136

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  how do you determine that, and certainly what the

          3  Homeland Security mandates are, making sure that we

          4  both comply but also worry about duplication as we

          5  proceed. We could go on and on with questions, but

          6  thank you very much for the very informed and

          7  intelligent testimony.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Protocols,

          9  federal funding, we could keep you guys here all

         10  day.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Excuse me, Mr.

         12  Chair. A 20-second follow-up point on the EMS --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And we just may

         14  keep you here all day.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: On the EMS

         16  interoperability point. In addition to looking into

         17  access to being able to take physical radios from

         18  the police precincts, I believe the technology

         19  exists to allow frequency access on the current

         20  radios, which EMS personnel are given. So, I would

         21  like to ask you in your follow-up work, to look into

         22  that technological possibility.

         23                 There may not be, in other words, a

         24  need for additional radios, they just may need an

         25  adjustment on the current radios.
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          2                 Thank you very much. That's an

          3  important point.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MARTINEZ: Thank you,

          5  gentlemen. And send my regards to Chief Esposito and

          6  Scoppetta.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next witness

          8  will be Northrop Grumman represented by Paul

          9  Chelson.

         10                 If I can ask everyone to just clear

         11  the room and take the conversations out into the

         12  rotunda so we can continue with the hearing.

         13                 Hold on one second, Mr. Chelson. We

         14  want to make sure you're heard, so let's let

         15  everybody clear out of the back.

         16                 Welcome, Mr. Chelson. I have seen the

         17  capabilities that you're about to explain to us in

         18  more detail, and it's really remarkable, very Bruce

         19  Wayneish, and we look forward to your presentation.

         20                 MR. CHELSON: Is the mike on now?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes.

         22                 MR. CHELSON: Good morning,

         23  Chairpersons Brewer, Martinez and Vallone, and

         24  members of the City Council on Fire and Criminal

         25  Justice Services, Public Safety, Technology In
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          2  Government. My name is Paul Chelson, and I am the

          3  Program Director for Grumman's New York City

          4  broadband wireless program. Northrop Grumman is a

          5  global company, whose legacy predecessor, the

          6  Grumman Aircraft Engineering Company, started in

          7  Baldwin New York in 1929.

          8                 We are proud of our New York heritage

          9  and commitment to the community. Northrop Grumman is

         10  a world leader in the provision of end-to-end

         11  communications solutions in the areas of satellite

         12  communications, wireless system implementation,

         13  network architecture, and homeland security.

         14                 Our past experience is extensive

         15  within the military and public safety communications

         16  industry and includes some of the worlds most

         17  technologically advanced innovative systems,

         18  services and solutions and data communications,

         19  systems integration, defense, electronics, and

         20  information technology.

         21                 Northrop Grumman has more than

         22  120,000 employees with operations in all 50 states

         23  and 25 countries. We provide innovative and secure

         24  information and communications solutions to

         25  government customers throughout the nation and
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          2  around the world.

          3                 We are able to leverage our

          4  leadership position in systems integration and

          5  security to deliver New York City a best value

          6  broadband wireless solution, one that will meet

          7  critical public safety and transportation

          8  requirements, while minimizing schedule, deployment,

          9  and financial risks.

         10                 With more than 50 years of experience

         11  designing, integrating and operating some of the

         12  world's most complex and secure communications

         13  systems, along with our extensive public safety and

         14  transportation information technology experience, we

         15  are positioned to deliver the Citywide Mobile

         16  Wireless Network on time and within budget.

         17                 Northrop Grumman brings to the City

         18  the experience of successful implementations for

         19  numerous large-scale public safety projects for

         20  city, county, state and national agencies, both in

         21  the United States and overseas. We are a leader in

         22  public safety systems, from communications to 9-1-1

         23  systems, to 9-1-1 centers to computer-aided dispatch

         24  systems.

         25                 We deployed the Ohio Multi-Agency
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          2  Radio Communications System, a statewide public

          3  safety network using more than 200 radio sites to

          4  cover the entire state. This system is now deployed

          5  and is operational. We were a partner on the United

          6  Kingdom's Public Safety Radio Communications

          7  Project, a nationwide deployment for all aspects of

          8  public safety. Northrop Grumman provided the systems

          9  engineering, network design, network management and

         10  force element aspects of that project. This system,

         11  now called Airwave, is now developed and operational

         12  across the UK. In addition to communications,

         13  Northrop Grumman has over 125 computer-aided

         14  dispatch installations serving more than 70 million

         15  people.

         16                 As you can see, by partnering with

         17  city, county, state and national agencies, we are

         18  able to provide proven mobile wireless network

         19  solutions, solutions that improve the effectiveness

         20  and safety of first responders.

         21                 Our public safety communications

         22  experience is extensive and involves projects to

         23  city, state and national governments for decades. In

         24  addition, our extensive broadband wireless

         25  engineering work has been going on for over five
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          2  years to help solve critical communication needs of

          3  first responders. The goal was to deliver secure,

          4  high-speed mobile communications systems to first

          5  responders and other federal, state and local

          6  agencies to provide safety and security for our

          7  systems.

          8                 Today, we are deploying secure

          9  broadband wireless solutions to a variety of

         10  customers, including the Department of Homeland

         11  Security, Santa Clara County, California, the White

         12  House Communications Agency, and several classified

         13  customers.

         14                 For New York City, Northrop Grumman

         15  will leverage its broadband wireless research, its

         16  vast system engineering and integration experiences,

         17  and its experience deploying public safety radio

         18  networks, to deliver a reliable broadband wireless

         19  system that meets the security, redundancy and

         20  scalability requirements of the City while providing

         21  the City-wide radio coverage.

         22                 Since our company has a long history

         23  of providing solutions to complex network challenges

         24  of similar size and scope to this network, we are

         25  highly qualified to deliver this state-of-the-art
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          2  Citywide Mobile Wireless Network to the City.

          3                 We look forward to serving New York

          4  City's first responders and public safety agencies

          5  with a system that will provide improved safety,

          6  quicker response, and improved situational awareness

          7  during both normal day-to-day operations and

          8  emergency conditions.

          9                 Northrop Grumman is proud and pleased

         10  to be working with the City. I appreciate the

         11  opportunity to talk to you about Northrop Grumman

         12  and how we will be supporting the City with this

         13  network. Several times you mentioned the technology

         14  description of the system. The best way to

         15  understand the technology is to come see it in

         16  operation.

         17                 I know some of you have been over to

         18  see it, Chairperson Vallone and Brewer. Many of the

         19  rest of you are welcome to come too. I second

         20  Commissioner's invite to you to come. I would be

         21  happy to have you at any time.

         22                 The other way to understand the

         23  technology is to just answer specific questions you

         24  might have, because quite a bit of it has already

         25  been covered.
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          2                 So, thank you for your time and I'll

          3  open it to your questions.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Yes, apparently

          5  there has been a miscommunication arising from the

          6  change in hearing dates. We assumed we were going to

          7  get a presentation. We're not. Gale and I have

          8  already received it, so it's not of the most import

          9  right now. But if anyone does need a presentation,

         10  they can obviously contact DoITT or yourselves and

         11  I'm sure you would give that to them.

         12                 MR. CHELSON: We would be pleased to.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Does anyone have

         14  any questions?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Yes. Thank you

         16  very much. Thank you for the tour. I have a

         17  question, obviously the issue of voice versus data

         18  came up often earlier, as you heard, and I know from

         19  your Ohio, UK, et cetera, experience, you've had a

         20  lot of experience on these topics. So, I assume that

         21  this will be even more advanced than UK or Ohio.

         22                 But my question is what is your

         23  opinion, your professional opinion, regarding this

         24  issue. I asked the things, it's good to have the

         25  redundancy of the voice and then the data, but I
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          2  wanted to know what you thought and whether you

          3  think they should be collapsed at some point.

          4                 MR. CHELSON: No, I agree with what

          5  you said. Communication is so, so important for

          6  public safety agencies and this will add a level of

          7  redundancy in communications that is not there

          8  today, and I do not think it would be smart to

          9  eliminate redundancy in public safety

         10  communications.

         11                 So, the fact that this was designed

         12  specifically to focus on broadband can carry a lot

         13  of data, so it can carry some voice, but you have a

         14  voice network, you have something else, the

         15  conservatives are redundant back-up and that's a

         16  good design.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Just in terms of

         18  security, obviously you feel your network is secure,

         19  was obviously tested in Alan Gerson's district and

         20  is so, but can you just describe the levels to which

         21  you go to, to make sure there is firewall?

         22                 MR. CHELSON: There is many levels of

         23  security. For anybody to be on the network they have

         24  to be authenticated, so that means that their

         25  device, their modem that they're using to connect
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          2  into the network has to be an authorized user on the

          3  network.

          4                 There then is additional

          5  authentication of the user that. You know, not just

          6  the equipment but that the person is authorized to

          7  be on the network using, you know, pins and things

          8  like that, so that nobody can get onto the network.

          9                 Once they're on the network

         10  everything is running encrypted, so you cannot

         11  intercept the traffic or get into the network that

         12  way, and then it is taken back, after it goes to

         13  radio into the back haul network and then comes back

         14  via microwave and fiberoptic to the user agencies

         15  where it is then decrypted and it goes through the

         16  firewall. So, there is the multi-levels of how the

         17  data is protected, and then in addition to that the

         18  sites are all physically secure, the radio sites are

         19  on rooftops, the equipment in locked rooms and

         20  locked cabinets and things like that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Ron Bergmann

         22  talked a little bit about the training. I think I

         23  asked the question, and Council Member Vallone, but

         24  what does your contract call for? It's just like

         25  anything else, the devil is in the details, and if
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          2  people aren't trained then all the hardware and

          3  software isn't going to be able to be used

          4  appropriately. So, what does your contract call for

          5  specifically in terms of training? How long-term, et

          6  cetera?

          7                 MR. CHELSON: Over the life of the

          8  contract, we have a requirement to train.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: How long is the

         10  contract?

         11                 MR. CHELSON: The basic contract is

         12  five years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay. So, over

         14  five years.

         15                 MR. CHELSON: We will be training, as

         16  Mr. Bergmann said, the Train the Trainer concept.

         17  But in the operation of the system, how it's used,

         18  how it's operated, and then in the four classes of

         19  applications that have been identified.

         20                 The expectation is that the, as Mr.

         21  Bergmann said, that the users will, the applications

         22  that are there today, when they migrate on the

         23  network, will nominally require very little

         24  training. It will be seemless. If they're used to

         25  using applications either on a wired network, this
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          2  is just going to be a wireless extension, so it's

          3  sort of like from your laptop, if you're wireless,

          4  you log in, versus, you know, plugging your internet

          5  in in the office, you don't notice the difference,

          6  so it will be that kind of integration for most of

          7  the applications.

          8                 For new applications, as they're

          9  developed those will then have to be trained because

         10  users might not be used to it.

         11                 I think the other thing that you will

         12  notice differently is that if there are applications

         13  that are already running wirelessly, that means

         14  they're running in a fairly slow situation, so all

         15  that one will see is much increased responsiveness.

         16                 So, the training should not be a

         17  problem on their application. The training on how to

         18  use the network is included in the contract.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: So, in other

         20  words, the individual with a tablet or PC in the

         21  radio car or the fire officer with materials in the

         22  station house or in the truck will have, you feel

         23  that that is a pretty much seemless situation?

         24                 MR. CHELSON: If it's an application

         25  they're used to using, then that's seemless. If it's
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          2  new applications, then it depends on the

          3  application.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Okay, 400 -- I

          5  think you have currently two sites in the downtown

          6  area where you have antenna; the question is, 400

          7  will be enough you feel to do the Citywide

          8  application?

          9                 MR. CHELSON: Yes. One of the

         10  requirements that DoITT put on us during the pilot

         11  session was to scale it so they would be seeing the

         12  same performance in the pilot that they will see

         13  across all five boroughs of the City when it is

         14  deployed. So, it will be the same level of service.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: And then in terms

         16  of megahertz, I think it's 100 megahertz that was

         17  listed as what's going to be the goal; is that going

         18  to be sufficient, do you think for the network?

         19                 MR. CHELSON: Well, actually,

         20  initially it uses ten megahertz a spectrum.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Right.

         22                 MR. CHELSON: And the requirements

         23  that we have we meet, that DoITT laid, on the

         24  capacity we put on the street, which is like putting

         25  an office environment on the street.
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          2                 The technology we're using is a

          3  worldwide standard called UMTS, Universal Mobile

          4  Telecommunications System, and it's the worldwide

          5  standard for 4G broadband technology. There is a lot

          6  of investment worldwide in that technology. There is

          7  a standards body that tracks and lays out the plans

          8  for that technology, they're the ones that are

          9  projecting a ten-fold improvement over the life of

         10  the system. So, I think what that means for New York

         11  City is that just as what is being put out now will

         12  handle the needs, but as it gets used more and more

         13  and as technology advances, the technology is going

         14  to be able to keep up with increased user demand

         15  when they see what they can do.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Council Member

         17  Gerson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         19  much, Chair Brewer. I just want to follow up on the

         20  discussion I and some of my colleagues had earlier

         21  with the brass, and on this issue of deadspots and

         22  highrise and subterranean locations; can you address

         23  how your project, your system will improve or not

         24  improve that problem or how you will deal, what type

         25  of access should we expect and problematic and
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          2  previously problematic areas, high above ground and

          3  deep below?

          4                 MR. CHELSON: Okay, the requirement

          5  that the contract has is to public coverage on the

          6  street. So, all streets, allies, everything like

          7  that. But in order to do that, you get a lot of

          8  spillover into the buildings, and so one of the

          9  things that DoITT did during the pilot phase was

         10  have us conduct tests to evaluate the amount of

         11  in-building coverage we got from the system. So,

         12  what they did was they chose four, quote, typical

         13  buildings in the pilot area, some older

         14  construction, like the Woolworth Building, newer

         15  construction like 7 world Trade Center, and had us

         16  measure at every five floors multiple points across

         17  those floors for all the floors they were able to

         18  get access to.

         19                 The results of those tests were that

         20  80 percent of the points inside were covered. So, it

         21  depended, you know, as the previous gentleman

         22  explained very much on the construction of a

         23  building, you know, it's pretty much like yourself

         24  on experience. If you're in an elevator, you might

         25  get it, you might not, it depends on the amount or
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          2  steel used in the central core of the building and

          3  things like that. So, similarly if you move

          4  slightly, then you tend to be able to move into a

          5  coverage. If you liken it to what your personal

          6  experience is with your cell phone, it's probably

          7  pretty typical of what you would expect in building.

          8                 As far as subterranean, no, it does

          9  not go underground. The technology will work

         10  underground in subways, but it would require

         11  additional equipment, you know, to make it work. It

         12  doesn't penetrate from above ground below ground,

         13  just like the other systems didn't.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay. Let me

         15  just ask you then, from the perspective of street

         16  level communication, which I do recognize as your

         17  mission, do you have any recommendations to the City

         18  for street condition, changes, improvements,

         19  infrastructure improvements, beyond the scope --

         20  beyond the scope of what we expect you to do, but to

         21  enhance, shall we say communications, you know,

         22  broadband generally?

         23                 MR. CHELSON: I'm not sure where

         24  you're going with the question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Maybe that's
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          2  something you want to ponder and you can get back to

          3  us, and we could talk further when I do meet up with

          4  you.

          5                 MR. CHELSON: Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, well,

          7  thank you. I couldn't resist that one.

          8                 MR. CHELSON: Okay.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 I don't think we have any more

         15  questions. I'm sure that more will come up as time

         16  goes on and we look forward to a real system. Thank

         17  you very much.

         18                 MR. CHELSON: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: The next panel is

         20  Tom Ettinger from the Uniformed EMS Officers, Robert

         21  Unger, Legislative Counsel, David Rosenzweig, who is

         22  also from the Fire Alarm Dispatchers.  And we have

         23  testimony, which we will read into the record from

         24  Lieutenant Edward Boles, Uniformed Fire Officers

         25  Association. I know he had to leave. We will place
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          2  that into the record.

          3                 Whomever would like to begin.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We know you

          5  agree with everything that was said prior to your

          6  testimony, right?

          7                 MR. UNGER: We certainly do.

          8  Especially parts about EMS using police radios,

          9  which Israel Miranda from the Uniformed UMTs and

         10  Paramedics is here and he'll address that issue I'm

         11  sure during this testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: You need to talk

         13  up a little.

         14                 MR. UNGER: Okay, Madam Chairman. I'm

         15  Robert Unger, and I'm Legislative Counsel to the

         16  Uniformed EMTs and Paramedics at the Fire

         17  Department. The Uniformed Fire Alarm Dispatchers

         18  Benevolent Association, I'm also the Uniformed

         19  Firefighters Association.

         20                 I'm going to address one particular

         21  issue on behalf of UFA. The EMS folks are here to

         22  address their own issue and Dave Rosenzweig from the

         23  Fire Dispatchers is here. It's the in-house, it's

         24  the in-buildings communications piece, okay? The

         25  things are really not much better than they were
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          2  after September 11th in in-house, in in-building

          3  communications. The Fire Department has been

          4  studying what would be the right type of system to

          5  put into buildings, retrofitting into buildings and

          6  requiring new buildings in the City of New York for

          7  several years now. Okay, they have a contractor who

          8  has been, quote, looking at this issue for several

          9  years now, and we still don't have a system. And one

         10  of the issues that comes to light lately is that the

         11  technology to wire buildings and to retrofit

         12  buildings to give us in-building communications

         13  exists.

         14                 The Durst Organization recently was

         15  on television having wired a major office building

         16  in Manhattan that they own, and in fact, the Chief

         17  of Department of the Fire Department personally went

         18  up and tested the system and I saw him on TV saying

         19  this is really good.

         20                 So, the technology is there, and the

         21  question we have I think is really, if the

         22  technology is there, and if Durst is able to get a

         23  building set up with in-house communications,

         24  in-building communications, where is the rest of the

         25  City?

                                                            155

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2                 Why are firefighters, why are EMTs

          3  and paramedics who have the same problem, because

          4  their radio system doesn't work either, why are

          5  these people still going into these buildings

          6  without any coverage when the technology exists? Why

          7  is the Fire Department taking years to try to figure

          8  out what's going to have to go into these buildings

          9  to make it work, when one particular real estate

         10  operator here in the City has already made it work,

         11  to the point where the Fire Department chiefs went

         12  up to the building and were part of this press

         13  conference announcing this new safe building with

         14  in-house communications.

         15                 For the firefighters and for the EMTs

         16  and to maybe a slightly lesser extent the police,

         17  because they have a pretty good system that they're

         18  obviously enhancing, but the system works much

         19  better than either the EMS system or the fire

         20  system, we really need to get to it. And what the

         21  Council can be very helpful at is holding the Fire

         22  Department's feet to the fire, by making, raising

         23  this issue publicly, and making them at least commit

         24  to a reasonable timetable to complete this project.

         25                 Every day firefighters, cops and
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          2  medics are going into buildings in this City and if

          3  it's a routine call, that's one thing. With EMS,

          4  sometimes they can't call out for the proper

          5  equipment or the right kind of back up because the

          6  radios don't work in these buildings, and that makes

          7  the patients suffer. But at times of a large fire or

          8  other large scale calamity, a plane crash into a

          9  building, or God forbid, another terrorist act,

         10  we're not a whole hell of a lot further ahead than

         11  we were. It's great that we have the repeaters, they

         12  give us increased coverage but it's not as good as

         13  if the buildings themselves would be retrofitted

         14  with proper in-house repeaters, cabling, to enable

         15  our first responders to communicate back to their

         16  central dispatch points, as well as with each other.

         17                 So, that is the message from the

         18  Uniformed firefighters Association today, and I'll

         19  take any questions afterwards, and I'll go over to

         20  Izzy Miranda from EMS. Thank you.

         21                 MR. MIRANDA: Good morning. Good

         22  morning, honorable Chairs, distinguished members of

         23  the Committee on Public Safety, Committee on

         24  Technology In Government. I understand that this is

         25  about new technology, but we must ask, how does this
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          2  address some of the existing problems that we have

          3  today in reference to the Fire Department's EMS

          4  communications system.

          5                 My name is Israel Miranda. I'm the

          6  Health and Safety Coordinator for the Uniformed EMTs

          7  and Paramedics for the New York City Fire

          8  Department.

          9                 First, I would like to say what a

         10  pleasure and honor it is to testify in front of

         11  these committees today. I would also like to extend

         12  my appreciation for the day-to-day service you

         13  perform for the citizens of New York City.

         14                 We are the largest emergency medical

         15  service in the world, representing 2,500 EMTs and

         16  paramedics. We answer over 2 million calls a year.

         17  My testimony today centers on providing pre-hospital

         18  care and the inability of our field EMTs and

         19  paramedics to communicate effectively and the need

         20  to have the ability to communicate with other

         21  agencies in the event of an emergent or immediate

         22  response without delay.

         23                 Prior to the merger with the Fire

         24  Department, all EMS hand-held radios had the ability

         25  to communicate with the New York City Fire
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          2  Department. These frequencies were only utilized in

          3  the event of a catastrophic situation. For example,

          4  crowd control, violent episodes that jeopardize the

          5  safety of the public, of EMTs and paramedics

          6  operating on the scene of an assignment.

          7                 The key to response rests with the

          8  ability to communicate. The ability of First

          9  Responders to communicate and coordinate emergency

         10  response is hampered without the appropriate

         11  frequencies from one agency to another. This in

         12  itself puts the people of New York City and first

         13  responders at risk.

         14                 These problems were self-evident on

         15  many occasions, including September 11th, 2001. Our

         16  inability to communicate with Transit, and EMS

         17  Dispatch and Police while operating in the New York

         18  City subway system puts EMTs and paramedics at even

         19  a greater risk and the public. If a paramedic is

         20  treating a seriously ill or critical patient in the

         21  subway system the options are two; send your partner

         22  up several flights of stairs until he can get

         23  outside to communicate or carry a pocket full of

         24  quarters. It's kind of sad in the age of information

         25  and technology that we do not have the appropriate
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          2  technology to share the information.

          3                 The bottom line here, folks, is that

          4  we work in an uncontrolled environment. When the

          5  Fire Department talks about electronic

          6  communications and dispatch, let me explain to you

          7  what that really means. Councilman Monserrate put it

          8  pretty well. We would have to call a 9-1-1 Citywide

          9  dispatcher who would have to electronically send a

         10  message to another dispatcher, who would have to

         11  wait and see if there is an available police sector

         12  car to get assigned to that call.

         13                 Also, addressing the point-to-point

         14  issue, I'd like to clear that up a minute. What does

         15  that really mean? Actually, on our radios I'm still

         16  looking at that point-to-point. I can't talk to a

         17  police officer in the same building if I'm in there

         18  because I don't have that ability. Neither can I

         19  talk to a police sector car in the community because

         20  I don't have that ability. Prior to the merger we

         21  had that ability on our radios. I appreciate our

         22  relationship with the Police Department, and that

         23  they're willing to let our members sign out radios,

         24  but we had that capability and we still do it with

         25  the radios we have right now.
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          2                 Numerous times we have received a

          3  call of a serious injured child or a person having a

          4  heart attack, who may not be at the location where

          5  you get the call. And they may be in the presence of

          6  police officers at a different location. We don't

          7  have the ability to talk to that police officer who

          8  is with that patient at a different location.

          9                 Eventually this could end with the

         10  death of some citizen in New York City. Hopefully it

         11  doesn't, but it can. This goes against everything we

         12  learned about 9/11 and when it comes to agencies and

         13  inter-agency communication.

         14                 I sincerely hope that my testimony

         15  today sheds light on the issue that has been ignored

         16  for a very long time, an issue that jeopardizes the

         17  citizens we treat, as well as those EMS

         18  professionals that render life-saving pre-hospital

         19  care for the City of New York.

         20                 I thank you very much for your time.

         21  God bless. Happy holidays to all.

         22                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: Good afternoon. I'm

         23  David Rosenzweig. I'm the President of the Uniformed

         24  Fire Alarm Dispatchers Benevolent Association, and I

         25  want to thank you all for having me here today and
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          2  allowing me to give the testimony.

          3                 First, in response to Council

          4  Member/Chairman Vallone quoting the McKinsey Report,

          5  if you're familiar with the report there are only a

          6  few areas in the report that had a positive finding

          7  for September 11th, which was a very difficult

          8  thing, and that was the Fire Department

          9  communications, and that we were able to maintain

         10  the five-minute response time, Citywide, even though

         11  we had 70 percent of our resources in one particular

         12  incident, which they think was quite amazing we were

         13  even able to do that.

         14                 Of course, that was done by

         15  communication professionals that work for the New

         16  York City Fire Department. And the reason I bring

         17  that up is because PSAC. I was in PSAC last week,

         18  and unless I was on the wrong floor, I don't

         19  honestly believe there is a PSAC I. I saw a floor

         20  that was completely empty. No capabilities at all.

         21  They had a few consoles there that labor was

         22  supposed to test for their compliance with OSHA and

         23  economics and it failed. It failed miserably.

         24                 So, my understanding of where we're

         25  going with PSAC I and PSAC II really is kind of
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          2  quite different than what they testified here today.

          3  They're looking quite optimistic. As a matter of

          4  fact, they probably were looking optimistic before

          5  last year's Mayoral race when they were planning on

          6  cutting the ribbon in October, but here we are more

          7  than a year later, we don't even have a scissors,

          8  let alone a ribbon.

          9                 So, I think we really need to

         10  readdress PSAC. I think we should start considering

         11  cutting the cash cord entirely for that project,

         12  because it's not really a viable project. Take a

         13  look at the facility they chose. It's at the base of

         14  the Manhattan Bridge. It's one of the most

         15  vulnerable buildings that we could possibly have in

         16  the City of New York, yet they chose to use that as

         17  a facility for a joint Fire/EMS and PD. I think

         18  really before any further money is spent, there

         19  needs to be some oversight done as to making a

         20  determination whether that building is really a

         21  choice building that you need for a joint public

         22  safety center.

         23                 In regard to PSAC II, I'm glad to

         24  hear that we finally have an address. I understand

         25  it's supposedly some place in the Bronx. My concern
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          2  is quite simple. We have five communication centers

          3  right now, one in each of our boroughs. They work

          4  extremely well. The Fire Department, from a

          5  communications point of view, has never let this

          6  City down. We have been there. Our processing time

          7  is the fastest in the country, 43 seconds. And our

          8  response time Citywide, which we've gone through

          9  many times, is in some boroughs is as low as 4.32

         10  seconds.

         11                 I honestly believe those statistics,

         12  our ability to perform like we performed today, will

         13  be destroyed with PSAC. Not too many Council members

         14  realize we're talking about shutting down their

         15  communication centers in their individual boroughs.

         16  The one on Empire Boulevard in Brooklyn, the one on

         17  Wood Haven Boulevard in Queens, and the one on 180th

         18  Street in the Bronx, and also on 79th Street in

         19  Manhattan.

         20                 They will no longer exist as viable

         21  communication centers. Our strength in the Fire

         22  Department were those five independent unique

         23  centers with proprietary wiring that allows us to

         24  run the fire alarm box systems without any other

         25  utilities involved. We provide the power, we provide
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          2  the maintenance, we provide everything through the

          3  Fire Department.

          4                 That is not the plan with PSAC. It is

          5  going to totally change. And I think possibly now

          6  that it's taken so long and there aren't any

          7  consoles sitting, maybe it's possible to take a look

          8  at the expenses that have gone in and maybe we can

          9  cut the cord and not spend any more money.

         10                 The other issue is quite simple. EMS

         11  was merged into the Fire Department. I was at the

         12  MOU signing and there were a lot of members here

         13  from the City Council that were there. It was about

         14  response time. When EMS came into the Fire

         15  Department, their response time was eight minutes

         16  and 47 seconds. The Fire Department's response time

         17  was four minutes and 42 or 43 seconds. The purpose

         18  of the merger was to allow fire communications, as

         19  it exists today, to dispatch ambulances from a

         20  unique center, one for each borough, delivering not

         21  the eight-minute time but the five-minute time. This

         22  was a plan that was ongoing for over five years that

         23  still has not been implemented, and with PSAC will

         24  not be implemented. So, any improvement in response

         25  time that EMS will have will only be on a Citywide
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          2  basis based on how it's designed and also the AVL.

          3  The AVL is a very important --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: If you could

          5  just finish up soon?

          6                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: I'm done, sir. So, I

          7  mean I just wanted to make that point known that AVL

          8  is a very important component and it needs--

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I'm sorry,

         10  AVL?

         11                 MR. ROSENZWEIG: That's Vehicle

         12  Locators, Automatic Vehicle Locators, that they put

         13  in the ambulances will help.

         14                 The last thing I just want to

         15  mention, in regard to the 20,000 boxes that they're

         16  talking about, these wireless boxes, an extensive

         17  study has been done in the City of New York in

         18  regard to wireless technology of any type and it was

         19  found to be unacceptable, and that's why we went

         20  with the proprietary wire system, it assures that

         21  that system will always work, as long as the fire

         22  communication centers are viable and working.

         23                 I think you need to really look into

         24  that. We still have approximately 5,000 old style,

         25  older style boxes, with handles that still work, but
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          2  they really should be upgraded to the new type talk

          3  boxes so that we can provide both Police and Fire

          4  from each of those individual sites, and move into

          5  the 21st Century.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. EPPINGER: First I would like to

          8  applaud the City Council for holding this hearing on

          9  this very important topic. My name is Tom Eppinger.

         10  I'm the President of Uniformed EMS Officers Union,

         11  Local 3621. In the interest of time, you have my

         12  testimony, I'm just going to highlight on a few

         13  points of importance. One, mass casualty incidents,

         14  the largest one we ever had in New York City was

         15  9/11. Five years later, we talk about the Fire

         16  Department with electronic command boards where they

         17  can track everyone, still my members use pencil and

         18  paper.

         19                 The Fire Department is talking about

         20  getting rid of their magnetic command boards. Well,

         21  guess who will inherit them? EMS. We get all the

         22  hand-me-downs. It's not appropriate. We are as

         23  important as the firefighters. We need to track our

         24  vehicles, our personnel, where our patients go.

         25                 One simple thing we found 9/11, we
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          2  didn't know where anyone went. One of the reasons we

          3  had so many patients. If we had the electronic board

          4  and we carried hand-held scanners that go onto a --

          5  if you hang a triage tag on someone, they now come

          6  with bar codes. You use the same type of technology

          7  parking enforcement use, they scan, scan the bar

          8  codes. It goes in, information goes to the command

          9  board, goes to FDOC in headquarters. Quick, easy, we

         10  know where everyone goes.

         11                 Pre plans. Fire Department does an

         12  excellent job with pre plans. EMS has none. The only

         13  thing EMS has was something pre merger, done by the

         14  Chief of Special Operations Division. Those titles

         15  don't exist. EMS, HHC doesn't exist. We do not have

         16  pre plans. They're photocopies years old. So, if I

         17  pull up to a hotel, either in the hours of nine a.m.

         18  or at ten p.m. or three o'clock in the morning, I

         19  have no idea where to enter that hotel specific to

         20  the needs of EMS, the size of the elevator, what

         21  doors are open, where to report to. Nothing. And

         22  that's just patient care related. If there is an

         23  incident at the UN or here, we don't have that

         24  information. It's very equally important to EMS as

         25  it is to Fire. High-rise radios. After 9/11 we were
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          2  given, I'd say it looks like this (indicating). As

          3  heavy as this. It's like a suitcase. Weighs about 25

          4  pounds. Contributed to one of the desks of my

          5  members who suffered a hernia out of lifting it out

          6  of the back of the truck.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What's the

          8  purpose of that?

          9                 MR. EPPINGER: It's a high-rise radio.

         10  Basically it's the same thing as Fire. What it does,

         11  it's on the EMS frequency and it gives us the

         12  ability at a higher wattage to talk to our people as

         13  they go up the floors, or in Staten Island we use

         14  them as brush fires. Because our point-to-point

         15  radios are not strong enough. When we have to

         16  communicate with other people, it's on a

         17  point-to-point basis. One of the major problems that

         18  firefighters had on 9/11, they could not

         19  communicate. But, once again, they gave us

         20  hand-me-downs. These radios cannot be fixed. They do

         21  not have parts. As they break, they're thrown away.

         22  No replacement for EMS operations.

         23                 Automatic vehicle locator. Recently

         24  the Mayor stated that we cut response time because

         25  of AVL 30 seconds. I have to tell you that's not the
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          2  information that the Fire Department has told me.

          3                 AVL has not cut response time at all.

          4  The only thing that cut response time is that the

          5  far EMS is looking at changing certain emergency

          6  call types to send those type of call types, instead

          7  of giving it to a paramedic ambulance, giving it to

          8  an EMT. Example. Asthma. We don't need to send

          9  paramedics to every asthma patient. Sometimes

         10  they're just sick. Our EMTs are now empowered and

         11  trained to give emergency medicine, albuterol, to

         12  those asthmatics, so we can free up our paramedics

         13  for the cardiac arrest people. That lowered response

         14  time by 20 seconds.

         15                 The City Council needs to tell the

         16  Fire Department, show us the evidence and the money

         17  that you spent in Automatic Vehicle Locator that

         18  actually changed the system. We're still dispatching

         19  based on precinct sector, precinct sector area.

         20  Those areas are huge.

         21                 We could switch over to have the fire

         22  alarm dispatchers and cross reference every location

         23  in the City to a call box. There's hundreds of

         24  sectors, there's thousands of call boxes that would

         25  make it more defined.
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          2                 Our radio systems, something that was

          3  touched on here today. I can tell you for a fact

          4  there is no point-to-point communications with the

          5  police officer ever in the radios we had. A little

          6  bit after the merger, prior to the merger, our

          7  frequencies with the Police Department were removed

          8  out of our radios. All it is, we have a radio,

          9  there's a laptop, they put a plug into it, they can

         10  either take the radio frequencies out or put them

         11  in. What they did was they took them all out. What

         12  that caused was an inability for us to communicate

         13  to the police dispatcher when we are in danger. Or

         14  we see a citizen involved in a crime and we can get

         15  police there faster. That's the importance of it. I

         16  can tell you that I had one of my members, and I can

         17  briefly go over this, Thursday night get assaulted

         18  in the back of an ambulance by a patient's family

         19  member. At 6:06 at night, all the units were

         20  operating in the street in Brooklyn. At 6:10 the

         21  Police Department, since it was a medical only

         22  emergency, transmitted that they didn't need any

         23  police cars to go to the scene. At 6:24 p.m. our

         24  units on the scene transmitted to our dispatcher we

         25  needed Police Department units on the scene, the
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          2  exact messages, "RMP needed ASAP. Rush PD to

          3  location." That was at 6:24:50. So, we don't have

          4  the ability to talk to PD. We have this Citywide

          5  frequency, but you have to take it out of your

          6  holster, you have to look for the channel and talk

          7  and then maybe they might recognize who you are.

          8                 So, let me just continue. So then we

          9  had at 18:25:34 PD, the Precinct Dispatcher

         10  transmitted over this message, then 18:26:10, we

         11  still need PD 10:13. That is a code for we are

         12  getting killed. That message went over three times

         13  within a matter of seconds. They kept sending that

         14  message, 18:26:36 from PD Dispatcher to EMS, what is

         15  the condition? 18:27:08, back from EMS to PD, need

         16  RMP forthwith, EMS force in danger. That message was

         17  hit twice. 18:27 a police car was there. You know

         18  why? The street narcotic unit was passing the

         19  location by coincidence. That's how we had police

         20  there.

         21                 This answer of me going to an IO

         22  channel, which we call it, which is Citywide, is

         23  inexcusable. It's not anything that we're going to

         24  accept. We've gone to the City Council, met with

         25  numerous members to pass legislation. This is about
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          2  safety. Nothing else. I can't tell you numerous

          3  times that PD would call us on our radio, by our

          4  radio designation, what's your ETA? PD is

          5  downstairs. You know, things like that and they

          6  would talk to us. It's a matter of safety. It's a

          7  matter of getting there quickly. It's a matter of

          8  life and death. It has nothing to do with anything

          9  else.

         10                 Councilman Monserrate was talking

         11  about when we used to sign out radios. It was years

         12  ago. When they took the radio frequencies away from

         13  us, we had to go back to the precincts. And let me

         14  tell you something, the police officers are more

         15  than willing to give us the radios because they know

         16  their life depends on it because if they get shot in

         17  a bad accident, they're looking for us, and they

         18  know they don't have the time to waste typing

         19  messages through dispatchers.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you still

         21  get the radios from the precinct or not?

         22                 MR. EPPINGER: I'm sorry, what was

         23  that?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you still

         25  get the radios from the precinct?
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          2                 MR. EPPINGER: Absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You can.

          4                 MR. EPPINGER: Absolutely. You know,

          5  they understand the importance of it. Do our people

          6  still go there? I don't know if they still go there.

          7  I know when I was on an ambulance I went there. But

          8  let me tell you, we still have precinct channels in

          9  our radios. They're in the ambulances. But the Fire

         10  Department took away the ability to talk to them.

         11  So, they still can put them in. They still can. It's

         12  just a matter of taking a laptop, a plug to the

         13  radio head and just changing a few commands. Why

         14  they don't want it? We don't know.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         16  much. I know that this is a really important

         17  discussion. My question is broader, which is, do you

         18  think the data issue of the wireless network being

         19  discussed, because I know you were here earlier,

         20  particularly from the EMS perspective, does that

         21  have -- it doesn't solve or even begin to solve the

         22  voice issues, but would there be some data issues

         23  that could be helped?

         24                 I'm also concerned because I know a

         25  lot of the hospitals, it's probably just equally
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          2  difficult sometimes. Some of the hospitals it's hard

          3  to talk to also. So, I want to know from the

          4  perspective of would wireless solve some of these

          5  issues in terms of response?

          6                 MR. EPPINGER: I could tell you what

          7  the wireless would solve.

          8                 Right now we still use, our ambulance

          9  call reports are still paper. This is 2006. We're

         10  the largest EMS agency, there are smaller agencies

         11  that use electronic prehospital care reports. We

         12  could do that where we could carry around something

         13  they showed you. It was presented to the Fire

         14  Department numerous times, the last time they turned

         15  it down. Where we could take this tablet, wireless

         16  it in the emergency room, come back, wireless it

         17  back at our station, billing faster. We have a lot

         18  of problems with the system we use now. The scanners

         19  that read the information breakdown, the Fire

         20  Department doesn't have a 24-hour help line to fix

         21  these computer problems, the wireless would help us,

         22  but the Fire Department chooses not to even look at

         23  them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 MR. MIRANDA: Yes, I'd just like to

          3  add something that Tommy touched on. When it comes

          4  to access of my members to the PD radios now, that

          5  they could sign out; they have been disciplined for

          6  going to get these radios. The Fire Department does

          7  not want us to continue that practice. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay, I think

          9  you were all here, as I said we're going to be

         10  following this up with letters asking for specific

         11  policies and why that exists now, why the radios are

         12  changed, do they intend to change it back, and we

         13  will provide you with copies of their responses when

         14  we get them.

         15                 Thank you all for waiting.

         16                 Oh, Alan, I'm sorry.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you.

         18  Thank you, Madam and Mr. Chair.

         19                 I do want to point out that we have,

         20  I have drafted, with many of my colleagues,

         21  legislation that would require direct communications

         22  between EMS and NYPD, as several witnesses on this

         23  and other panels have testified is needed. And

         24  Counsel informs me that the legislation is now

         25  drafted and we'll be prepared to introduce that at
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          2  the next Stated.

          3                 Though, it would be wonderful if we

          4  could get the commitment of the Departments to make

          5  the change without the passage of legislation. But

          6  we want to get the job done one way or the other for

          7  all the reasons stated.

          8                 I just want to ask Mr. Unger, you

          9  raised the question why after all these years with

         10  the availability of technology have we not begun to

         11  implement real improvements in high-rise and

         12  subterranean areas. So, I'd like to ask you if you

         13  could take a stab at answering your own question:

         14  Could you speculate or opine as to why you think it

         15  is that it is taking this long? That might help us

         16  expedite matters.

         17                 I'm putting you on the spot but --

         18                 MR. UNGER: That's okay. I'm used to

         19  being put on the spot here.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You're used to

         21  it.

         22                 MR. UNGER: Okay, you want it in one

         23  word?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         25                 MR. UNGER: Bureaucracy.
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          2                 The Fire Department is a bureaucracy.

          3  The decision-making process is slow. Some folks

          4  don't want to take responsibility for making a

          5  decision. I mean, what would happen if, God forbid,

          6  someone would make a mistake.

          7                 Unfortunately, technology is not

          8  perfect, there's probably no perfect in-house

          9  system. However, if we don't get the Department off

         10  the dime to move forward and spec a system, what we

         11  don't know where in reality where to start from

         12  until we get going, and maybe at least a pilot

         13  project. The idea that after two or three years that

         14  I'm aware of since they let out a contract to a

         15  vendor to design a system that the Fire Department

         16  would then come here and try to legislate into the

         17  Building Code, I think Commissioner Stanton earlier

         18  said -- you mentioned, somebody mentioned that there

         19  was going to be legislation forthcoming, I think

         20  Chairman Martinez mentioned that, Commissioner

         21  Stanton's response was, yes, we probably will have

         22  to come back here to get legislation. Yes, they knew

         23  that two years ago, they knew that maybe three years

         24  ago because the concept was get a vendor, design the

         25  system, come to the City Council, as the Council to
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          2  pass legislation, I guess validating the specs. You

          3  know, saying buildings in New York City would have

          4  to have a system that would reach at least this

          5  specification, you would then pass that legislation,

          6  theoretically the Mayor would sign it, since it came

          7  from one of his agencies, and then we'd be off to

          8  the races.

          9                 I haven't seen any legislation come

         10  from the Fire Department, and, you know, officially

         11  or even unofficially I haven't heard that they're

         12  even really close to actually coming up with a spec

         13  to come to you with. So, I think that it's long

         14  enough. I think that in-house building surveys in

         15  key buildings of the City of New York, like the

         16  Empire State Building, Chrysler Building, UN

         17  Building, other key high-rise-type structures could

         18  have been completed quite some time ago, and the

         19  Department alluded to the fact that they were

         20  testing some things but the equipment was too bulky

         21  or whatever. You know, forget it. That's not going

         22  to help us if this afternoon we were walking out of

         23  here and everybody's pagers are going off that

         24  there's a fifth alarm in a high-rise building and

         25  medics and firefighters and cops are going to be
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          2  expected to go up to the top floors of that

          3  building, rescue people, put the fire out, save the

          4  property, again. And I know I've been present in the

          5  Empire State Building in parts of the building

          6  personally where I've seen firsthand that the radios

          7  don't talk. They just don't talk. We've got to fix

          8  this and hopefully maybe the Council can raise this

          9  issue to at least the point where the Fire

         10  Department moves off the dime. I don't think this is

         11  a City Hall central problem. I don't think the Mayor

         12  has any reason that he wouldn't want to have the

         13  building be safer. I think it's just the Fire

         14  Department and whoever their vendor is just not

         15  getting to it. And I think they need to get to it,

         16  in the interest of safety of all the first

         17  responders in the City, as well as a whole group of

         18  which I represent personally, and as well as members

         19  of the public.

         20                 And I want to say one thing also, if

         21  I may, what Izzy said before about maybe at some

         22  point somebody may die because the cops and the

         23  medics in the street can't find each other - it

         24  happened. It happened to a young boy in Harlem. We

         25  got a call. The ambulance responded. The police, for
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          2  very good reasons, had relocated the child from

          3  where the child was to a safer location. We didn't

          4  know that. EMS had no idea that that happened. So,

          5  the ambulances were all going to the wrong place,

          6  and by the time they were able to -- this was all

          7  chronicled on Channel 4 because this kid was the son

          8  of a Channel 4 news employee, so big story, and they

          9  tried to pin it all on the EMS dispatcher actually,

         10  but that did not work out. The police moved the

         11  child for very valid reasons. Our units went to the

         12  place where we were sent, nobody was there, and now

         13  they're driving around the neighborhood looking.

         14  Meanwhile the cops are calling for EMS EMS EMS, but

         15  there were actually, on that job I think there were

         16  four separate human beings in two separate buildings

         17  that this data had to pass through in order to get

         18  it between the police car, merely I think two blocks

         19  away, and the EMS ambulance. If this had predated

         20  the merger, when our former Fire Commissioner Thomas

         21  Von Essen personally ordered that the Police

         22  Department frequencies be taken out of the radio,

         23  all it would have taken was, hey, PD, EMS, where are

         24  you? 145 and Lenox. Okay, we're there in 10 seconds.

         25                 This kid died because we could not
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          2  communicate with the police on the scene just two

          3  blocks away. That can't happen anymore either. And

          4  this is not like a big deal. I understand there's a

          5  little history here, some of the members of the

          6  Council were actually here then, all of us were here

          7  when this merger happened and Commissioner Von Essen

          8  made the personal determination that he was going to

          9  take really severe control over the ambulances, and

         10  one way to do that was to take the police out of it.

         11  In fact, at that time the Fire Department said that

         12  the Police Department had requested that we be taken

         13  off those frequencies. Channel 2 news did an expose'

         14  on this issue a couple of years ago, and at the end

         15  they spoke to the police and asked Commissioner

         16  Kelly whether he in fact requested EMS to be taken

         17  off the police frequencies, and a spokesman from

         18  Commissioner Kelly denied that the Police Department

         19  ever asked for that.

         20                 So, the cops know that having EMS on

         21  board is a really good thing. And we've actually had

         22  cops in uniform take a serious risk and go on

         23  television and say that in uniform. And

         24  interestingly, in a Department with very tough

         25  discipline, those police officers were not seriously

                                                            182

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY, FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE AND TECHNOLOGY

          2  disciplined and merely asked please don't go on

          3  television again without permission.

          4                 That sends us a message that the

          5  higher levels of the PD, they thought it was a

          6  really stupid decision and an unsafe decision to

          7  take EMS out of that system.

          8                 And, so, I think that may just

          9  further illuminate a little bit because I've got 15

         10  years of history with this, and I just want to bring

         11  you up to date.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         13  much. That's I think a very important perspective

         14  and clearly we have to get moving.

         15                 Thank you all.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. I

         17  want to thank Council Member Gerson for staying to

         18  the very end of this hearing, I think he's the only

         19  one, because of his concern, and actually cutting

         20  his questions short so that staff members can

         21  actually get some nourishment.

         22                 So, thank you all for coming down.

         23  We'll be working with you on this issue.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BREWER: Thank you very

         25  much. And we look forward to ongoing discussions on
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          2  the topic. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The Public

          4  Safety Committee, as well as Fire and Criminal

          5  Justice and Technology are all adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 1:39 p.m.)

          7                 (Written testimony was read into the

          8  record.)

          9

         10

         11  Written Testimony Of:

         12  Lt. Edward Boles

         13  Lieutenants' Representative

         14  Uniformed Fire Officers Association

         15

         16                 Committee Chairs and members of the

         17  Committees, thank you for the opportunity to appear

         18  here today. My name is Eddie Boles and I am speaking

         19  on behalf of Peter Gorman, President of the

         20  Uniformed Fire Officers Association (UFOA),

         21  representing the Lieutenants, Captains, Battalion

         22  Chiefs, Deputy Chiefs, Medical Officers and

         23  Supervising Fire Marshals of the FDNY.

         24                 The UFOA is in support of any radio

         25  technology that improves the safety of our members
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          2  and that improves the efficient operations by our

          3  first line officers.

          4                 Although there have been strides in

          5  improving the overall communications at fire

          6  operations, we still have a long way to go. The

          7  newer radios (HT's) in place since 9/11 are much

          8  improved but the radios still need refining. For

          9  example, the latest version of remote mics

         10  distributed by Motorola creates too much feedback,

         11  which causes greater static during transmissions.

         12                 Additionally, members still cannot

         13  easily access the Emergency Alert button which is

         14  depressed when a member is in danger or views a

         15  potentially dangerous situation. This button is

         16  currently located on the radio and not on the remote

         17  mic. Easy access to this emergency alert button is

         18  essential because it increases the wattage of radio

         19  transmission from 2 watts to 5 watts, transmits an

         20  emergency alert tone, and shows an electronic

         21  display of the member who is making the transmission

         22  (currently there is a pilot program in the 11th

         23  Division).

         24                 We know the Department is working on

         25  this technology, but 5 years later they are still
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          2  not there.

          3                 Another improvement in radio

          4  technology that would assist overall fire operations

          5  is the possession of line unit officers (Captains

          6  and Lieutenants) with a Handie Talkie that is

          7  capable of communicating directly with the

          8  dispatcher. This capability would reduce delayed

          9  transmissions to the dispatcher, expedite units

         10  being dispatched, and cause prompt arrival on the

         11  scene of additional resources when needed.

         12                 Besides the new HT's, other new radio

         13  technology that has been of significant assistance

         14  to our units are the post radios and vehicle voice

         15  recorders. The post radios have added a tremendous

         16  boost to our communications at highrise operations

         17  and subways. Every Division and Battalion possess

         18  the post radio, which is brought into the highrise

         19  building (buildings over 75'). Improvements are

         20  being pursued to make the version lighter and with

         21  better battery display and capacity.

         22                 This technology has vastly improved

         23  overall communications, especially between the fire

         24  operation units and the lobby command post.

         25                 The installation of voice recorders
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          2  in every Battalion vehicle has also been of great

          3  value. These recorders are used to record all radio

          4  transmissions at fire operations which can aid not

          5  only during investigations (like our last fatal fire

          6  in the Bronx), but it can be used as an invaluable

          7  tool for training on the proper and effective use of

          8  HT communications during fire operations.

          9                 We applaud this committee's

         10  exploration of a bill that would mandate repeater

         11  systems in all highrise buildings. This technology

         12  would greatly improve FDNY radio communications and

         13  enhance the overall operation at highrise buildings.

         14  This technology would greatly improve FDNY radio

         15  communications and enhance the overall operation at

         16  highrise fires and emergencies. We feel that it is

         17  imperative that the bill allows the specs, testing,

         18  and training be done by the Fire Department in

         19  conjunction with the respective unions

         20  participation.

         21                 Lastly, I would like to address the

         22  contract for Citywide Mobile Wireless Network. As I

         23  stated earlier, any improvements that will improve

         24  the safety and overall efficiency of our members at

         25  fire operations will be embraced by our union.
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          2  However, as of this date, the UFOA has not been

          3  involved, nor have we had any input in this latest

          4  technology. The potential for this system is

          5  limitless and it is our hope that the UFOA will play

          6  an active role in the development, testing and

          7  training of this system.

          8                 As I should remind the audience,

          9  after the tragic deaths of Firefighters Frisbee and

         10  Fitzpatrick when their rope failed in 1980, the

         11  Inspector General ruled that the City must allow

         12  labor to be involved ion any safety issue that

         13  affects firefighters and Fire Officers.

         14                 It is our hope that we continue to

         15  work with the Department and their technology unit

         16  in continued cooperation. In the past, when labor

         17  and management worked together, the results of their

         18  joint endeavors have often resulted in a positive

         19  outcome.

         20                 We commend FDNY Deputy Commissioner

         21  Milton Fischberger and his team on all their hard

         22  work and effort in developing and implementing

         23  technologies that benefit all our members and

         24  ultimately the citizens of this great city.

         25                 Again, I wish to thank the committees
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          2  for their due diligence on these issues and for

          3  allowing our union the opportunity to speak.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:39 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 16th day of November 2006.
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                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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